

Class 1 - Protection & Indemnity



Rules & List of Correspondents



The Qeshm International Trust Alliance Protection and Indemnity Club



مؤسسه كلوپ من الللي سمه متقابل اطمينان محدقتم

The Qeshm International Trust Alliance Protection and Indemnity Club

RULES AND LIST OF CORRESPONDENTS Policy year 2019/20

Web site: www.qitapandi.com

E-mail: <u>ships@qitapandi.com</u>

Tel: +98 21 26100091-5

Fax: +98 21 26100089

+98 21 26100088

Claim Department: +98 21 26100092

Hot Line (24/7): +98 902 177 7160

Emergency Telephones:

CEO:

Mobile: +98 912 177 7159

Tel: +98 21 26100020

+98 21 23846357

E-mail: md@qitapandi.com

The Qeshm International Trust Alliance Protection and Indemnity Class Rules

(Effective on and from noon GMT on 20 February 2019)

CONTENTS

SECTION 1	INTRODUCTION	4
Rule 1	Memorandum	4
Rule 2	Definitions	4
Rule 3	General stipulation	8
Rule 4	Nature of cover	11
SECTION 2	RISKS COVERED	12
Rule 5	Accidental Death, injury and long term disability	12
Rule 6	Illness and Disease	13
Rule 7	Medical and Funerary Expenses	13
Rule 8	Repatriation, substitute expenses and outstanding wages	14
Rule 9	Stowaway and refugees	15
Rule 10	Loss of damage to the effects of seamen and other persons (other than passengers)	15
Rule 11	Diversion	16
Rule 12	Life salvage	16
Rule 13	Quarantine	17
Rule 14	Collision	17
Rule 15	Shipwreck	20
Rule 16	Wreck liabilities	20
Rule 17	Loss of or damage to property	22
Rule 18	Pollution risks	23
Rule 19	Towage	
Rule 20	Liability arising under certain contracts for rendering services to insured ship	25
Rule 21	Cargo liabilities	25
Rule 22	Cargo liabilities in case of breach of the Contract of carriage	29
Rule 23	Property on the Insured ship	
Rule 24	Costs and expenses arising out of confiscation of the Insured ship	30
Rule 25	Unrecoverable general average contributions	30
Rule 26	Ship's proportion of general average not recoverable under the hull policies	30
Rule 27	Special compensation to salvors	
Rule 28	Legal claims for payment lodged by state competent authorities	
Rule 29	Sue and labour costs, legal and enquiry expenses	
Rule 30	Charterer's liabilities	34
Rule 31	General exclusion from the cover	34

SECTION 3	CONCLUSION OF THE CONTRACT OF INSURANCE	42
Rule 32	Application for insurance	42
Rule 33	Surveys of ships	42
Rule 34	Contract of insurance	43
Rule 35	Variation of risk within the period of validity of the contract of insurance	44
Rule 36	Addendum to the insurance policy	45
Rule 37	Currency of insurance	45
Rule 38	Period of insurance	
Rule 39	Premium payment procedure	
Rule 40	Consequences of failure to pay premium	
Rule 41	Validity of the contract of insurance	49
Rule 42	Mortgagees	49
SECTION 4	SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS BETWEEN THE PARTIES	50
Rule 43	Notification of the insurer of the events provided for by the contract of	
	insurance	50
Rule 44	The Insurer's rights in handling and settlement of claims	50
Rule 45	Acknowledgment by the Insured of the Insured's liability for damage caused to third parties, the Insured's consent to settle and pay claims	52
SECTION 5	INSURANCE REIMBURSEMENT	53
Rule 46	Return to the Insurer of reimbursement recovered by the Insured from third	
Rule 47	parties List of grounds for rejecting the insurance reimbursement by the Insurer	53 53
SECTION 6	DISPUTES AND APPLICABLE LAW	55
Rule 48	Disputes and Applicable law	55
SECTION 7	LAID UP RETURNS	55
Rule 49	Laid up returns	55
Appendix 1	Pre-loading survey of finished steel/bagged cargo	57
Appendix 2	Clauses and warranties in the insurance policy	59
Appendix 3	Special provision for charterer's Cover	63
Appendix 4	Standard Form letters of Indemnity	64

SECTION 1 Introduction

Rule 1 Memorandum

These Rules are subject to the memorandum and articles of The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club.

Rule 2 Definitions

In these Rules the following words and phrases shall have the following meanings.

Cargo

Any things or goods including those used to pack or secure goods, in respect whereof the ship-owner enters into a contract of carriage, evidenced in writing, but excluding containers and other equipment owned or leased by the ship-owner as well as live animals.

Certificate of Entry (Evidence of cover)

A document and any endorsement thereto issued by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in accordance with these Rules. The document evidences the contract of insurance in respect of each insured ship.

Charterer's Entry

An entry which insures a charterer as an Insured (other than a demise charterer).

Claim

A demand raised against the Insured by third parties to whose

property interests damage has been caused in the process of operation of the insured ship by the Insured.

Classification Society

A society with which entered ship is classed to govern her construction, maintenance, repairs, alteration and periodic inspections.

Co-insured

Legal entities or individuals that have property interests in the subject of insurance and are inserted in the policy on the Insured's application.

Entered ship

Ship in respect whereof the contract of liability insurance has been entered into.

Fines

Includes penalties and other impositions similar in nature to fines imposed in respect of an entered ship by any court, tribunal or authority of competent jurisdiction.

Hague Rules

The rules agreed in International Convention for the Unification of certain rules relating to Bills of Lading signed in at Brussels on 25 August 1924.

Hague-Visby Rules

The Rules contained in the schedule to the Carriage of Goods by Sea Act 1971.

Hamburg Rules

The Rules agreed at the United Nations Convention on the Carriage of Goods by Sea at Hamburg on 31st March 1978.

Insurance Cover

Scope of the Insurer's obligations under the contract of insurance.

Insured

Legal entities or individuals that have property interests in the subject of insurance, operating the ship on their own behalf and specified in the contract of insurance.

Insurer

The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club.

Insured event

The event which is provided for in the contract of insurance and which took place within the period of validity of the contract of insurance the occurrence of which event shall result in either the Insured's liability towards third parties resulting from damage caused to their property interests or the Insured's obligation to bear additional expenses incurred in the course of operation of the ship and specified in these Rules and subsequent obligation of the Insurer to effect insurance reimbursement subject to fulfillment of all conditions of the insurance contract by the Insured.

Insured risk

Estimated event the occurrence whereof is subject to insurance. The event considered as insured risk should have attributes of contingency and casualty.

Limits of liability of the Insurer

The amount determined in the contract of insurance within which the Insurer undertakes to reimburse to the Insured the losses suffered by him as a consequence of occurrence of the event insured.

Loss

Expenses incurred by the Insured as a consequence of occurrence of the insured event provided for in the contract of insurance.

Passenger

Any person carried on board the ship under a contract of carriage by seagoing or river transport.

Seaman

Any person (including the master) employed on the ship and holding a position in accordance with list of members of staff or under the terms and conditions of a collective crew agreement or other contract of service or employment, whether or not onboard that ship, and entered in the crew list in prescribed manner.

Scope of risks covered

Risks and additional terms and conditions determined by the parties when entering into the contract of insurance.

Ship

Means a ship or boat or any other description of vessel used for the carriage or storage of goods or for carriage of passengers, or any part thereof or any proportion of tonnage or insured value thereof or any share therein, including any ship, boat, fishing vessel.

Ship-owner

A person operating the ship on his own behalf irrespective of whether he is the owner of the ship or operates her on any other legal ground.

Subject of insurance

Lawful property interests of the Insured connected with his liability under the international law to reimburse damage caused to third parties as a result of occurrence of the event insured provided for in the contract of insurance or his liability to bear additional expenses incurred in the course of operation of the ship stipulated in these Rules.

Supernumerary

A relative of seaman or any other person whom insured agreed to maintain or carry on board an Entered ship (except passenger) and including persons engaged under articles of agreement for nominal pay.

Third parties

Legal entities or individuals to whose health, life or property interests a harm or damage have been caused as a result of occurrence of the insured event provided for by the contract of insurance concluded under these Rules.

Rule 3 General stipulation

3.1 In compliance with these Rules the Insurer shall accept for insurance the risk of occurrence of civil liability of the Insured (or other person, whose liability is covered under contract of insurance) under the Insured's obligations arising as a consequence of harm to life or health or damage to property

interests of third parties and environment resulting from operation of ships in respect of which the Insured's liability is insured.

Unless otherwise agreed by contract of insurance, stipulations of presence Rules and contract of insurance regarding Insured equally relates to a person, whose liability is covered under contract of insurance (the Insured persons). The Insured is obliged to familiarize the Insured person with terms and conditions of presence Rules and contract of insurance. The Insurer has the right to demand from the Insured person to fulfill obligations, provided by present Rules and contract of insurance. The Insured person is liable nonfeasance for, provided by presence contract of insurance and contract of insurance together with Insurer.

- 3.2 These Rules shall be an integral part of the contract of insurance of ship-owners' liability entered into between the Insurer and the Insured.
- 3.3 All particulars and information given in the course of applying for insurance shall, if the entry of the relevant ship be accepted, be deemed to form part of the contract of insurance between the Insured and the Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club and it shall be a condition precedent of such insurance that all such particulars and information were true so far as was within the Insured's knowledge or could with reasonable diligence have been ascertained.
- 3.4 Upon the agreement between the Insurer and the Insured some provisions and terms and conditions of these Rules may be amended, supplemented, specified or replaced with other provisions and terms and conditions that shall not widen the scope of insurance cover determined by these Rules.

- 3.5 The scope of risks covered is specified in Rule 5 to Rule 31 of these Rules. The list of risks to be covered shall be determined by the Insured.
- 3.6 Reimbursement of the Insured's expenses under insured events shall be made within the sums insured (limits of liability) provided for in the contract of insurance. Civil liability insurance shall be subject to limitation of the Insurer's liability under the whole contract of insurance (aggregate limit) and/or under each event insured. Amounts and types of the sums insured (limits of liability) shall be determined by the parties when entering into the contract of insurance in compliance with the terms and conditions of Rule 35.
- 3.7 Scope of the insurer's obligation is to indemnify the Insured in respect of their legal liability arising out of protection and indemnity risks covered under the insurance contract issued by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club. Unless the directors in their discretion otherwise decide ,it is a condition precedent of an Insured's right to recover from the fund of The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in respect of any liabilities ,costs or expenses that he shall first have discharged or paid the same.
- 3.8 Reimbursement of the Insured's expenses under insured events shall be made above the deductible. The amount of deductible and the risks in respect whereof the deductible is applied shall be agreed between the Insurer and the Insured when entering into the contract of insurance.
- 3.9 In the event any court or tribunal permits any third party to sue The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club it shall be entitled to adopt each and every denial, defense and right to limitation of liability that would have been available to the

Insured in such proceedings were the Insured and not The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club to be the party sued.

Rule 4 Nature of cover

- 4.1 The cover provided by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club is set out in these Rules and provides insurance for an Insured against loss, damage, liability or expense incurred by him which arises:
 - a) In respect of the Insured's interest in an Entered Ship,
 - b) Out of events occurring during the period of entry of the Ship in The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club.
 - c) In connection with the operation of the Ship
- **4.2** It is not intended that any benefit or rights should be acquired through the operation of the Contract (Rights of The Third parties) Act 1999 or other similar legislation.

SECTION 2 Risks Covered

Rule 5 Accidental Death, injury and long term disability

Liabilities to pay compensation or damages for loss of life, personal injury and long term disability in accordance with MLC regulation 4.2 standard 4.2.1 paragraph 1(b) caused by an accident in respect of:

- 5.1 The Seaman
- **5.2** The Supernumerary
- 5.3 The passenger
- **5.4** The Stevedore, where such liability arises:
- **5.4.1** On board the Entered ship(s)
- 5.4.2 In the course of handling cargo from the time of receipt of the cargo from the consignor or shipper at the port of loading until the time of delivery of that cargo to the consignee at the port or place of discharge.
- 5.5 Any person on a ship(s), which is in collision with the Entered Ship(s) or which is damaged by the Entered Ship(s) other than by collision, or on any property or object damaged by the Entered Ship(s).
- **5.6** Other third party except the above items.

PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT:

QITA Club are not responsible for payment to the master or a member of crew or his representative of contractual or statutory claims for compensation for death or long-term disability pursuant to any enactment or provision implementing Regulation 4.2 Standard A4.2.1 paragraph 1(b) of the Maritime Labor Convention 2006 as amended.

The QITA P&I club shall not make any payment under this sub clause if:

- (i) Such payment would be recoverable by the Master or member of crew under a social security scheme, fund, separate insurance or similar arrangement;
- (ii) The exclusions from cover in General Rules 31.1(a), 31.8 (war risks, radioactive) apply.

Rule 6 Illness and Disease

Liabilities to pay compensation or damages for loss of life caused by illness or disease or for any illness or disease contracted by:

- **6.1** The Seaman
- 6.2 The Supernumerary
- 6.3 The passenger Save where such liability arises solely under the terms of a contract between the Insured and any other party.
- 6.4 Any Third person

Rule 7 Medical and Funerary Expenses

Liabilities to pay for the cost of medical or hospital treatment and ancillary expenses necessarily incurred in relation to any injury, illness, or disease and of funeral arrangements and the repatriation of remains necessarily incurred in respect of:

- 7.1 The Seaman
- 7.2 The Supernumerary
- 7.3 The passenger

Rule 8 Repatriation, substitute expenses and outstanding wages

The Insured's expenses which are not recoverable under Rules 5 and 6 of these Rules and which are incurred when:

- 8.1 Sending a substitute to replace a seaman of the Insured ship who has been left ashore for reasons not connected with medical treatment;
- **8.2** Repatriating any seaman due to total or constructive total loss of the Insured ship.
- 8.3 Liabilities for repatriation and outstanding wages arising under Guideline B2.5 of Regulation 2.5 of the Maritime Labour Convention 2006 (MLC 2006) or any legislation giving effect to or equivalent to the MLC 2006 as amended.

Exclusions from the cover under Rule 8

This Rule shall not cover repatriation and substitute expenses, which arise out of or as consequence of:

- a) Expiry of a seaman's period of service on the Insured ship either in accordance with the terms of a collective crew agreement (contract of service or employment) or by mutual consent of the parties thereto.
- b) Breach by the Insured of any obligations with respect to seamen of the Insured ship provided for by the rules of law or contracts of service or employment.
- c) Sale of the Insured ship or change of the state of registration of the ship.

Rule 9 Stowaways & Refugees

Costs & expenses other than the costs of diversion of the Insured Ship (s), as per Rule 11, necessarily incurred by the Insured in meeting its legal obligations in respect of stowaways or refugees including the costs of maintaining, landing and where necessary repatriating such persons. Costs & expenses incurred shall only be covered to the extent that they cannot be recovered from any other party. Any claim for costs & expenses in respect of bunker, stores, wages, insurance, and port charges shall be limited to the insured Net loss.

Rule 10 Loss of or damage to the effects of seaman and other persons (other than passengers)

Liability to pay damages or compensation for loss of or damage to the effects of:

- **10.1** Any seaman of the Insured ship,
- **10.2** Any other person on board the Insured ship (other than passengers).

This cover shall be provided to the Insured where the Insured's liability to pay damages or compensation for loss of or damage to the effects of seaman or other persons onboard the Insured ship (other than passengers) arises:

- a) Under the terms of a collective crew agreement or contract of service or employment entered into between the Insured and seamen on board of the Insured ship and approved by the Insurer.
- b) By operation of law

Exclusions from the cover under Rule 10

Unless otherwise agreed with the Insurer, the contract of insurance shall not cover the Insured's liability for loss of or damage to cash, securities, precious or rare metals or stones, valuables or objects of a rare or precious nature.

Rule 11 Diversion

Costs and expenses necessarily incurred by reason of diversion or delay of the Insured Ship(s) solely for the purpose of:

- **11.1** Delivering an injured or sick seaman to the nearest port for securing medical treatment;
- 11.2 Substituting an injured or sick seaman
- 11.3 Repatriating a deceased seaman.
- 11.4 Landing stowaways or refugees and saving life at sea. Any claim for costs & expenses in respect of bunker, stores, wages, insurance, and port charges shall be limited to the insured Net loss.

Rule 12 Life salvage

liability to a third party by reason of the saving and attempt to save life of any person on or from the Insured ship but only if and to the extent that such payments are not recoverable under the Hull Policies of the Insured ship or from cargo owners or underwriters.

Rule 13 Quarantine

Costs and expenses incurred by the Insured as a direct consequence of an outbreak of infectious disease on the Insured ship, including quarantine and disinfection expenses and the net loss to the Insured (over and above such expenses as would have been incurred but for the outbreak) in respect of fuel, stores, provisions, wages and port charges.

Rule 14 Collision

The liabilities to pay costs and damages to any other person as a consequence of a collision between the Insured ship and any other ship or ships:

- 14.1 Insurance shall cover one fourth (or such other proportion as may have been agreed in writing with the Insurer) of the liabilities of the Insured connected with:
 - **a)** Damage caused by a collision of the Insured ship to another ship as well as to property and cargo onboard another ship.
 - **b)** Expenses connected with another ship being out of operation as a result of a collision with the Insured ship.
 - **c)** Expenses connected with general average or salvage of another ship resulting from a collision with the Insured ship.
- 14.2 Insurance shall cover four fourths of the Insured's liabilities arising out of the collision for or relating to:

- a) Expenses connected with removal or disposal of obstructions or wreck of another ship, cargoes or any other thing whatsoever relating to another ships.
- b) Expenses connected with indemnifying third parties for loss of or damage to any real or personal property except another ship or property on another ship, provided that the loss of or damage to said property or things resulted from a collision with the Insured ship.
- c) Expenses connected with indemnifying third parties for loss of or damage to the cargo or other property on the Insured ship or general average contributions or salvage paid by the owners of that cargo or property.
- d) Expenses connected with compensation for loss of life or personal injury of persons onboard another ship caused by collision of that ship with the Insured ship including repatriation or substitute expenses for that other ship.
- e) Expenses connected with indemnifying third parties for an escape or discharge from another ship of oil or any other contaminating substance, as a result of collision of that ship with the Insured ship, but excluding damage caused by pollution to other ship and property on such other ship.
- 14.3 Insurance shall cover that part of the Insured's liabilities for damage to another ship caused by collision of that ship with the Insured ship (other than the liabilities listed above 14.1 and 14.2), which exceeds the sum recoverable under the Hull Policy of the Insured ship solely by reason of the fact that the sum of the liabilities to that other ship arising out of the collision exceeds the Hull value of the Insured ship, corresponding to the

market value of the Insured ship stipulated in the relevant Hull policy.

General notes to Rule 14

- A) The contract of insurance concluded on the terms and conditions contained in 14.1 and 14.2 shall not extend to that part of the Insured's liabilities arising out of collision, which is covered under the Hull Policy of the Insured ship. The contract of insurance of liabilities arising out of collision shall not cover any deductibles applicable under the Hull Policy of the Insured ship.
- B) If a claim arises in respect of a collision involving ships belonging to the same Insured, the latter shall be entitled to recover from the Insurer, and the Insurer, in its turn, shall have the same rights, as if the ships had belonged to different Insured.
- C) If both ships are to blame and where the liability of either or both of the ships in collision becomes subject to limitation by law, claims shall be settled upon the principle of "single liability", which provides for recovery of the balance being a result of set-off of mutual claims after application of limitation of liability by law. In all other cases claims shall be settled upon the principle of "cross-liabilities", where under the owner of each ship shall pay the owner of the other ship such proportion of the latter's damages as may have been properly allowed in ascertaining the extent of blame of each ship in the collision, without applying a set-off of amounts claimed.

Rule 15 Shipwreck

Liability to compensate seamen for the loss of their employment caused in consequence of the actual or constructive total loss of the Insured ship. This cover shall be provided to the Insured where the Insured's liability to compensate seamen arises:

- a) Under the terms of a collective crew agreement or contract of service or employment entered into between the Insured and seamen of the Insured ship and approved by the Insurer;
- b) By operation of law.

Rule 16 Wreck liabilities

- 16.1 Costs or expenses relating to the raising, removal, destruction, lighting or marking of the wreck of the Insured ship and of her parts, when such raising, removal, destruction, lighting or marking is compulsory by law or where and when applicable by enforcement of the Nairobi International Convention on the Removal of Wrecks, 2007, or the costs thereof borne by third parties are legally recoverable from the Insured.
- 16.2 Costs or expenses relating to the raising, removal or destruction of any property and cargo being carried or having been carried on the Insured ship, not being oil or oil products or any other contaminating substances within the scope of Rule 18, when such raising, removal or destruction is compulsory by law or where and when applicable by enforcement of the Nairobi International Convention on the Removal of Wrecks, 2007, or the costs borne by third parties are legally recoverable from the Insured, but only if and to the extent that:

- a) The cargo is not owned by the Insured and such property does not form part of the Insured ship and is not owned or leased by the Insured or by any company associated with or under the same management as the Insured ship;
- b) The Insured is unable to recover such costs or expenses from the owner or insurer of such property, or from any other party.
- 16.3 Liabilities incurred by the Insured as the result of the presence or involuntary shifting of the wreck of the Insured ship, remnants of the cargo and property or as a result of the Insured's failure to remove, destroy, light or mark such wreck, including liability arising from the discharge or escape from such wreck of oil, oil products or any other contaminants within the scope of rule 18.
- 16.4 Liabilities incurred by the Insured as the result of any such raising, removal or destruction of the wreck of the Insured ship, cargo or any property or any attempt thereat.

Provided always that:

- a) The Insured ship became wreck as the result of casualty or event occurring during the validity of the contract of insurance.
- b) In respect of the amount claimed by the Insured under the contract of insurance entered into under the terms of Rule 16, the value of all property, stores and materials saved, as well as the wreck itself, shall first be deducted from the amount claimed by the Insured and only the balance thereof, if any, shall be recoverable from the Insurer.
- c) Nothing shall be recoverable if the Insured shall, without the consent of the Insurer in writing, have transferred the Insured's

interest in the wreck prior to the raising, removal, destruction, lighting or marking of the wreck or prior to the Insured event giving rise to the liabilities, costs and expenses referred to under the terms of Rule 16.

d) Where the Insured's liability arises under the terms and conditions of a contract for providing services to the Insured ship, and would not have arisen but for those terms, such costs and expenses borne by the Insured are only recoverable if and to the extent that the terms of the cover have been approved by the Insurer in view of the terms and conditions of such a contract.

Rule 17 Loss of or damage to property

Liabilities, costs and expenses of the Insured connected with liability to third parties to pay damages or compensation for any loss of or damage to any fixed or movable property including infringement of right to use such property. If the Insured ship causes loss or damage to property belonging wholly or in part to the Insured, the Insured shall have the right of recovery from the Insurer and the Insurer, in its turn, shall have the same rights as if such property or rights belonged to third parties. There shall be no recovery by the Insured under this Rule in respect of liability, which is within the scope of the following items:

- 17.1 Accidental Death or Injury under Rule 5.3.
- 17.2 Loss of and damage to the effects of seamen and other persons (other than passengers) under Rule 10,
- 17.3 Collision under Rule 14,

- 17.4 Wreck Liabilities under Rule 16,
- 17.5 Pollution risks under Rule 18,
- **17.6** Liability arising out of towage of or by the Insured ship under Rule 19.
- 17.7 Cargo liabilities under Rule 21,
- 17.8 Property on the Insured ship under Rule 22.

Rule18 Pollution risks

The contract of insurance shall cover:

- 18.1 Costs and expenses borne by the Insured in connection with the liability to pay losses and damages caused by or incurred as a result of the discharge or escape from the Insured ship of oil or oil products or any other substance which may cause pollution.
- 18.2 The costs of any measures reasonably taken by the Insured exclusively for the purpose of preventing or minimizing pollution caused by the discharge or escape from the Insured ship of oil or oil products or any other substance which may cause pollution or any costs and expenses in connection with liability for loss or damage to third parties' property, caused by measures taken for the purpose of avoiding or minimizing pollution.
- 18.3 The costs or liabilities incurred by the Insured as a result of compliance with any order or direction given by any government or authority for the purpose of preventing or reducing pollution or the risk of pollution caused by the discharge or escape from

the Insured ship of oil or oil products or any other substance which may cause pollution, provided always that such costs or liabilities are not recoverable under the Hull Policy of the Insured ship, and not related to normal operation or salvage or repair of the Insured ship.

Rule 19 Towage

Liabilities, cost and expenses incurred arising out of towage of an Insured ship:

- **19.1** under the terms of a contract for the customary towage of the Insured ship in the events as follows:
 - a) Towage of the Insured ship for the purpose of entering or leaving port or maneuvering within the port during the ordinary course of trading;
 - b) Towage of such Insured ship as is habitually towed in the ordinary course of trading from port to port or from place to place, to the extent that the Insured is not covered against such liability under the Hull Policy of the Insured ship.
- 19.2 The Insured's liability arising out of the towage of the Insured ship other than customary towage. The cover under this item shall be provided only if the terms and conditions of such a contract of towage and the scope of cover have been agreed with the Insurer. A contract of insurance shall cover the Insured's liability arising out of the towage of the Insured ship carried out under the terms of a contract for towage other than those specified in Rule 25.

19.3 The Insured's liability arising out of the towage of another ship or object by the Insured ship. The cover shall be provided only if the terms and conditions of such a contract and the extent of cover have been agreed with the Insurer.

Rule 20 Liability arising under certain contracts for rendering services to the Insured ship

Liability for loss of life, personal injury or illness, or for loss of or damage to property, arising exclusively under the terms and conditions of a contract made by or on behalf of the Insured relating to facilities or services provided or to be provided to or in connection with the Insured ship, but only if and to the extent that:

- a) The liability would not have arisen but for those terms and conditions;
- b) The terms and conditions of relevant contract have been approved by the Insurer.

Rule 21 Cargo liabilities

The liabilities and costs set out in below (always subject to Rules 21.1 and 21.2) when and to the extent that they relate to cargo intended to be or being or having been carried on the Insured ship:

21.1 The Insured's liability to third parties having property interest in the cargo for loss or shortage of or damage to the cargo or other responsibility arising out of any breach by the Insured, or by any person for whose acts, neglect or default the Insured may be legally or contractually liable, of the obligation properly to load, handle, stow, carry, keep, care for, discharge or deliver the cargo.

- 21.2 Additional costs incurred in discharging, storing, selling or destroying damaged cargo. The contract of insurance shall cover additional costs (over and above those which would have been incurred by the Insured if the cargo had not been damaged) incurred by the Insured in discharging, disposing, storing, selling or destroying of damaged cargo, but only if and to the extent that the Insured has no recourse to recover those costs from any other party.
- 21.3 Failure of consignee to collect or remove cargo. The contract of insurance shall cover additional costs (over and above the costs which would have been incurred by the Insured if the cargo had been collected or removed) incurred solely by reason of the total failure of a consignee to collect or remove cargo at the port of discharge or place of delivery, but only if and to the extent that such liabilities or costs exceed the proceeds of sale of the cargo and the Insured has no recourse to recover those liabilities or costs from any other party.
- 21.4 Liability for loss, shortage or damage in respect of cargo carried by means of transport other than the Insured ship, when the liability arises under a through or transshipment bill of lading, or other form of contract, providing for carriage partly to be performed on the Insured ship. This insurance cover shall be provided subject to previous agreement of terms and conditions of such carriage with the Insurer in writing.

General terms for reimbursement of the Insured's Losses under Rule21

1) Standard Terms of Contract of Carriage

Unless special cover was agreed in writing between the Insurer and the Insured when they entered into the contract of insurance, there shall be no recovery in respect of costs and expenses of the Insured relating to cargo liabilities that arise out of carriage of the cargo (including cargo on deck) on terms less favorable to the carrier than the Hague Visby Rules (i.e. the Rules contained in the International Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules relating to Bills of Lading signed at Brussels on 28th August 1924, as amended by the Protocol to that Convention signed at Brussels on 23th February 1968).

2) Deviation

Unless special cover was agreed in writing between the Insurer and the Insured when they entered into the contract of insurance, there shall be no recovery in respect of the Insured's losses and expenses relating to cargo liabilities that arise out of or that are incurred as a consequence of deviation, which deviation in the sense of this Section is understood as a departure from the contractually agreed route or a change of terms of carriage, which deprive the Insured of the rights of limitation which would otherwise have been available to the Insured on the basis of the standard terms of carriage referred to in proviso 1 (Standard Terms of Contract of Carriage) of this Section

Exceptions from the cover under Rule 21

This Rule shall not cover losses and expenses incurred by the Insured as a consequence of:

- 1. Issuance of a bill of lading, waybill and other documents evidencing the contract of carriage with the breaches as follows:
 - 1.1 The date of loading or acceptance of cargo for carriage specified in the said documents differs from the date when the cargo was actually loaded or accepted for carriage;
 - 1.2 Name, quantity and condition of the cargo have been incorrectly specified with the privities of either the Insured or the master.
- Discharge of cargo at a port or place other than that provided in the contract of carriage unless otherwise due to force majeure or safety purpose.
- Delivery of cargo without production of the original bill of lading, waybill or any other document of title by the person to whom delivery is made.
- **4.** Delivery of cargo to a person other than the party named in the bill of lading, waybill or other documents as the person to whom the delivery should be made.
- 5. Non-arrival of the Insured ship at the port of loading or her late arrival or impossibility to load a certain cargo on board the Insured ship in absence of due diligence.

Rule 22 Cargo liabilities in case of breach of the contract of carriage

At the insured's option the contract of insurance shall cover: The Insured's liability and expenses arising out of breach of the contract of carriage by the Insured if in result thereof the Insured shall be deprived of the right of limitation of liability.

- 22.1 Liability for carriage of on-deck cargo under the hold (under-deck) bill of lading.
- **22.2** Cargo liability arising out of a deviation of the Insured ship connected with departure from the contractually agreed voyage, only subject to the previous written agreement obtained from the Insurer for each deviation.

Rule 23 Property on the Insured ship

The contract of insurance shall cover: Liability of the Insured for loss of or damage to any container, equipment, fuel or other property on board the Insured ship provided always that such property:

- a) Is not property of passengers, crewmembers and other persons within the scope of Rule 10 of these Rules:
- **b)** Is not cargo within the scope of Rule 21 of these Rules;
- c) Does not form part of the Insured ship and is not owned or leased by the Insured or by any company associated with or under the same management as the Insured.

Rule 24 Costs and expenses arising out of confiscation of the Insured ship

This Rule at the Insurer' discretion shall cover damages caused to the Insured due to confiscation of the Insured ship by the award of court, arbitration or other competent body in whole or in part, if such confiscation resulted from infringement by the Insured or a person for whose acts the Insured is legally liable of any customs law or customs regulations, provided always that:

- a) The amount recoverable from the Insurer shall not exceed the market value of the ship at the date of the confiscation;
- b) The Insured shall have satisfied the Insurer that the Insured took such steps as appear to the Insurer to be reasonable to prevent the event giving rise to confiscation of the Insured ship. When non-fulfillment of the said conditions take place the Insurer shall have the right to refuse full or partial reimbursement of the Insured's expenses.

Rule 25 Unrecoverable general average contributions

The proportion of general average, special charges or salvage expenses which the Insured may be entitled to claim from cargo or from some other party to the marine adventure and which is not legally recoverable solely by reason of a breach by the Insured of terms and conditions of the contract of carriage.

Rule 26 Ship's proportion of general average not recoverable under the hull policies

The Insured ship's proportion of general average, special charges or salvage expenses not recoverable under the Hull Policies by reason of the value of the ship being assessed for contribution to general average or salvage at a sound value in excess of the insured value under the Hull Policies.

Recovery shall be limited to the amount of the ship's proportion of the general average or salvage which shall not be recoverable under the Hull Policies for the reason that the hull and machinery of the ship had been insured for a proper amount (at market value) which amount, however, increased at the time of the general average or salvage.

Rule 27 Special Compensation to Salvors

The Insured's expenses relating to his liability to pay special compensation to salvers of the Insured ship connected with the measures taken or the works done by the salvers to prevent or minimize damage to the environment, subject to the following conditions:

- 27.1 The Insured's liability to pay special compensation to salvers is imposed on the Insured pursuant to Article 14 of the International Convention on Salvage, 1989, or is assumed by the Insured under the terms of the salvage agreement approved by the Insurer.
- 27.2 His reasonably incurred expenses together with any increment awarded thereon under clause 1(a)of the Lloyds' open form of salvage agreement (1980).
- **27.3** The special compensation P&I club clause (SCOPIC) as incorporated into Lloyds' open form of salvage agreement or

any other " no cure- no pay" salvage contract approved by the Insurer.

Rule 28 Legal claims for payment lodged by state competent authorities

Expenses as set out in below incurred by the Insured in connection with the claims arising out of operation of the Insured ship(s) lodged by the state competent authorities for payment against the Insured or any parties for whose actions the Insurer is liable under the law or contract.

- 28.1 Expenses incurred by the Insured or by any parties for whose actions the Insured is liable under claims raised by the state competent authorities for payment, except for the events specified in Rule 28 provided that the Insured proves to the Insurer that the Insured took all necessary steps as the Insurer considers to be sufficient to prevent the event giving rise to such claims.
- 28.2 Expenses incurred by the Insured or by any parties for whose actions the Insured is liable under the claims raised by the state competent authorities for payment in respect of shortage, overlanding of cargo, or for a failure to comply with regulations relating to declaration of goods or to documentation in respect of the cargo.
- **28.3** Expenses incurred by the Insured or by any parties for whose actions the Insured is liable under claims raised by the state competent authorities for payment due to (for) breach of any law or regulation relating to immigration.

- **28.4** Expenses incurred by the Insured or by any parties for whose actions the Insured is liable under claims raised by the state competent authorities for payment in respect of a discharge or escape of oil, oil products or other contaminants.
- 28.5 There shall be no recovery of expenses incurred by the Insured in respect of claims of the state competent authorities for payment arising out of:
 - a) Weight overloading of the Insured ship;
 - b) Illegal fishing;
 - c) Infringements of or non-compliance with the provisions relating to construction, adaptation and equipment of ships contained in the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as amended by the Protocol of 1978 and any subsequent Protocols unless confirmation is obtained by flag state.

Rule 29 Sue and Labour costs, Legal and Enquiry expenses

Costs and expenses approved by the Insurer and reasonably incurred by the Insured for the purpose of:

- a) Preventing a threat of occurrence of the insured event;
- b) Determining the extent of damages caused to third parties as a result of occurrence of the insured event;
- c) Enquiring into the circumstances of occurrence of the insured event;
- **d)** Minimizing or avoiding the claim (including that in judicial instances) resulting from occurrence of the insured event.

Rule 30 Charterer's Liabilities

At the Insured's option, the contract of insurance shall cover:

- 30.1 Charterer's liability towards a ship-owner or other company, person owning, operating the ship on legal ground for the risks which set out in section 2, provided that such liability shall be imposed on the charterer under the terms and conditions of the charter party.
- **30.2** Charterer's liability for loss of or damage to the chartered ship (Insured ship).
- 30.3 The loss incurred by Charterer as a result of loss of or damage to bunker, fuel or other property of the Charterer onboard the Insured ship.

Rule 31 General exclusion from the cover

The cover under the contract of insurance entered into in compliance with these Rules shall not extend to either the Insured's liability and obligations to third parties or the costs and expenses, arising or incurred by the Insured in consequence of below items:

31.1 There shall be no recovery from The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club against any liabilities, costs or expenses (irrespective of whether a contributory cause of the same being incurred was any neglect on the part of the Insured or on the part of the Insured's servants, or agents) when the loss or damage, injury, illness or death or any other accident in respect of which such liability arises or costs or expenses is incurred, was caused by:

- (a) war, civil war, revolution, rebellion, insurrection or civil strife arising therefrom, any hostile act by or against a belligerent power, or any act of terrorism;
 - PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT in this rule, in the event of any dispute as to whether or not any act constitutes an act of terrorism, the decision of the Directors shall be final.
- (b) capture, seizure, arrest, restraint or detainment (barratry and piracy excepted) and the consequences thereof or any attempt thereat:
- (c) mines, torpedoes, bombs, rockets, shells, explosives or other similar weapons of war provided that this exclusion shall not apply to liabilities, costs or expenses which arise solely by reason of:
 - (i) the transport of any such weapons whether on board the Entered Ship or not, or
 - (ii) the use of such weapons, either as a result of government order or with the written agreement of the Managers or the Directors, where the reason for such use is the avoidance or mitigation of liabilities, costs or expenses which would otherwise fall within the cover given by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club.
- 31.2 Unless otherwise agreed in writing The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club shall not, except only as provided by Rule 14 (Collision) Rule 17 (Damage to Property) and Rule 25 (General Average), insure an Insured to any extent whatsoever against any of the risks, liabilities, costs or expenses against which the Insured would be insured if the Entered Ship were fully insured under Hull Policies on terms not less wide than both:

- (i) those of the Lloyd's Marine Policy with Institute Time Clauses (Hulls) 1.10.83 attached and with no deductible or franchise applicable to claims under those policies, and
- (ii) those of the Lloyd's Marine Policy with Institute Time Clauses (Hulls) 1.11.95 attached and with no deductible or franchise applicable to claims under those policies.
- 31.3 There shall be no recovery in respect of any liabilities, costs or expenses arising out of or constituted by willful misconduct on the part of the Insured (being an act intentionally done, or a deliberate omission by the Insured, with knowledge that the performance or omission will probably result in injury, or an act done or omitted in such a way as to allow an inference of a reckless disregard of the probable consequences).
- 31.4 The Liabilities to pay compensation or damages for loss of life, or personal injury or fine, caused by possession or use of drug and alcohol;
- 31.5 Un-seaworthiness of the Insured ship that the Insured knew about or should have known about prior to commencement of the voyage;
- **31.6** The Insured's ship participation in smuggling or other unlawful operations or attempts thereat;
- 31.7 A waiver by the Insured of the right to claim a recovery from the person liable for the losses incurred by the Insured or the Insurer's impossibility to exercise such a right through the Insured's fault:
- **31.8** Ionising radiation, toxic, explosive or other hazardous properties of nuclear fuel or nuclear products or waste;

- **31.9** Loss of, damage or repairs to the Insured ship or cleaning of the Insured ship or any part thereof from oil or oil products pollution;
- 31.10 Loss of or damage to the Insured ship or equipment or containers, lashings, stores or fuel being onboard the Insured ship and owned or leased by the Insured or by any company under the same management as the Insured;
- 31.11 Claims raised by or against the Insured relating to loss of freight or hire or demurrage, detention of the Insured ship unless such an amount forms part of a claim recoverable from the Insured for shortage of or damage to the cargo;
- **31.12** Claims against the insured arising out of breach or cancellation of a charter-party or any other contract;
- **31.13** Claims against the insured arising out of irrecoverable debts or out of the insolvency or a fraud of any person;
- **31.14** Claims against the insured arising out of exercising by the Insured of lien or sale of cargo;
- **31.15** Claims against the Insured arising out of properties or inherent defects and vice of cargo;
- **31.16** Any costs and expenses arising out of salvage of the Insured ship;
- **31.17** Liabilities arising under any statute regulating the use or insurance of road vehicles;

- 31.18 Claims relating to demurrage on, detention of or delay to an Entered Ship unless such loss is covered under Rule 21 (Cargo);
- **31.19** Losses arising out of towage other than in accordance with Rule 19
- **31.20** Liabilities, costs and expenses incurred by an insured in connection with any claim brought against it arising out of:
 - (a) waste incineration or disposal operations carried out by the Entered ship (other than any such operations carried out as an incidental part of other commercial activities), not being specialist operations;
 - (b) the operation by the Insured of submarines, diving bells or remotely operated vehicles;
 - (c) the activities of professional or commercial divers where the Insured is responsible for such activities other than:
 - (i) activities arising out of salvage operations being conducted by an Entered ship where the divers form part of the crew of that Entered ship (or of diving bells or other similar equipment or craft operating from the Entered ship) and where the Insured, having obtained a specific extension of cover under Rule 27, is responsible for the activities of such divers, or
 - (ii) incidental diving operations carried out in relation to the inspection, repair or maintenance of the Entered ship or in relation to damage caused by the Entered ship, or
 - (iii) recreational diving activities.

31.21 Use of a non-specialized ship as:

- a) A salvage ship, but excluding salvage of life at sea
- b) A drilling ship
- c) A dredger
- d) A cable and pipe laying ship and/or other type of ships

31.22 Prudent Uninsured

The Insured shall take such proper steps as in the opinion of the Directors are appropriate to protect its interests from the time when a ship is entered in The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club and throughout the period of the ship's entry as it should or would have done if not protected by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club.

Compliance with this provision shall be a condition precedent to an Insured's right of recovery from The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club, provided that the Directors shall have power in their absolute discretion to admit in whole or in part a claim, notwithstanding a breach of such condition. The exercise of their discretion by the Directors shall be final and conclusive for all purposes.

31.23 Obligations of the Insured in respect of excluded risks

- (a) Where the liabilities, costs and expenses of an Insured are discharged by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club pursuant to a demand made under:
 - (i) A certificate issued by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in compliance with Article VII of the International Conventions on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage 1969 or 1992 or any amendments thereof, or

(ii) A certificate issued by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in compliance with Article 7 of the International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, 2001, notwithstanding the exclusions in Rule 31.1 War Risks and/or Rule 31.8 Radioactive Materials, the Insured shall indemnify The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club to the extent that any payment under such guarantee, undertaking or certificate in discharge of the said liabilities, costs and expenses is or would have been recoverable in whole or in part under a standard P&I war risk policy had the Insured complied with the terms and conditions thereof.

PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT:

A standard P&I war risk policy shall mean an insurance against such risks and for such amounts as The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in its discretion shall decide was reasonable for the Insured to have obtained, and

(b) The Insured agrees that:

(i) There shall be assigned to The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club to the extent and on the terms that The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club determines in its discretion to be practicable all the rights of the Insured under any other insurance and against any third party.

31.24 Double Insurance

The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club shall not, unless and to the extent that the Directors in their discretion otherwise decide, be liable for any liabilities, costs or expenses

- recoverable under any other insurance or which would have been so recoverable:
- (a) apart from any terms in such other insurance excluding or limiting liability on the grounds of double insurance, and
- (b) if the ship had not been entered in The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club with cover against the risks set out in these Rules.

SECTION 3 Conclusion of the contract of insurance

Rule 32 Application for insurance

The contract of insurance shall be concluded on the basis of a written application containing all circumstances known to the Insured which may be material for determining probability of occurrence of an insured event and the amount of possible losses thereby caused.

- **32.1** The Insured's application shall be an integral part of the contract of insurance.
- **32.2** The Insurer shall be entitled to verify the accuracy of information given by the insured relating to the subject of the contract of insurance and the Insured shall assist the Insurer in this respect.
- 32.3 If after conclusion of the contact of insurance it becomes apparent that the Insured has provided the Insurer with patently false information about the circumstances material for determining the extent of risk, then the Insurer shall be entitled to deem the contract of insurance invalid.

Rule 33 Surveys of ships

- 33.1 The Insurer shall be entitled to inspect ships applying for insurance in terms of their technical condition at the expense of the applicant, or at any time within the period of validity of the contract of insurance at the expense of the Insurer, while the Insured shall be obliged:
 - To render any assistance and afford such facilities as may be required for such inspection/survey,
 - b) To comply with such recommendations as the Insurer may make following such inspection/survey.

33.2 If following the inspection of the ship carried out within the period of validity of the contract of insurance any defects in the ship's condition or her machinery are found which defects may threaten either the safe carriage of cargo or may cause the Insured's liability to third parties, the Insurer shall not be liable for claims connected with such defects until same have been eliminated and a new inspection has been carried out, or upon submission of evidences showing corrective action by the insured.

Rule 34 Contract of Insurance

The contract of insurance shall be made in writing, when entering into the contract of insurance the Insured and the Insurer shall agree on the following:

- a) Subject of insurance;
- b) Nature of the risk insured against (insured event);
- c) Limit of liability of the Insurer (sum insured);
- d) Period of validity of the contract of insurance;
- e) Terms and conditions specified as material by one of the parties.
- **34.1** If so agreed between the parties the contract of insurance may provide for insurance of liability of a number of persons having insurance interest in the subject of insurance. In this event "Jointly and Severally Insured" Clause shall apply.
- 34.2 If so agreed between the parties other persons may be included in a contract of insurance solely by reason that they may be deemed liable for damage actually caused by the Insured.
- 34.3 The contract of insurance shall be made in the form of a policy. The policy shall be the underlying document confirming the fact of conclusion of the contract of insurance.

- 34.4 The Insurer shall be entitled to insert in the contract of insurance clauses which limit the Insurer's liability under the contract of insurance in the event the Insured has failed to fulfill safe carriage of cargoes as well as other clauses specifying the relationship between the Insurer and the Insured and other persons included in the policy on the Insured's application.
- 34.5 In case of renewal of the contract of insurance the Insurer shall have the right to alter the amount of premium taking into consideration variation of the degree of risk, terms and conditions of insurance or loss records in the previous period of the contract of insurance.
- 34.6 Based on the payment of the first installment or the full premium to the account of the Insurer the latter shall forward the original policies to the Insured.
- 34.7 The contract of insurance of liability shall be deemed as concluded in favour of persons to whom damage can be caused (beneficiaries). Conclusion of the contract of insurance in favour of beneficiaries under this subsection assumes that the Insurer shall under these Rules reimburse the Insured's expenses incurred as a consequence of occurrence of the Insured's liability towards the beneficiaries.
- 34.8 Risks of additional expenses of the Insured connected with the insured event be covered, the contract of insurance (in the part concerning the said risks) shall be deemed as concluded in favour of the Insured.

Rule 35 Variation of risk within the period of validity of the contract of insurance

As soon as it becomes known to the Insured about any material variation concerning any covered risk that took place within the validity period of the contract of insurance the Insured shall

immediately notify the Insurer of such variation. Variations increasing the degree of risk shall entitle the Insurer to revise the terms and conditions of insurance or to charge an additional premium. If the Insured does not agree to change the terms and conditions of the contract of insurance or to pay additional premium the contract of insurance may be terminated from the time of occurrence of such variation concerning the increase of the degree of risk unless other sort of agreements could be reached between insurer and insured otherwise.

Rule 36 Addendum to the insurance policy

- a) All amendments to the contract of insurance including those made due to variation of the degree of risk shall come into force with effect from the date agreed by the parties.
- b) As evidence of introducing amendments to the contract of insurance including those made due to variation of the degree of risk, the Insurer shall issue to the Insured an addendum to the policy.

Rule 37 Currency of Payment

- 37.1 The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club shall make all payments for liabilities, losses, costs and expenses covered by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in the currency in which the Insured's Premium Rating is calculated (the "premium currency").
- 37.2 Where the Insured has made a payment in respect of any liability, loss, cost or expense which is covered by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in a currency other than the premium currency, that payment shall be converted into the

premium currency at the rate of exchange ruling on the day payment was made by the Insured.

- **37.3** Where a deductible is expressed in a currency other than the premium currency, the deductible shall be converted into the premium currency at the rate of exchange ruling on the day payment was made by the Insured.
- 37.4 Where a payment in respect of a liability, loss, cost or expense is due at a fixed time and the Insured without valid reason neglects to make payment when due, the Insured shall not be entitled to compensation at a higher rate of exchange than that ruling on the day on which payment was due.
- 37.5 All rates of exchange for the purposes of this Rule shall be as conclusively certified by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club.

Rule 38 Period of insurance

The contract of insurance shall be concluded for a period of one year. Upon mutual agreement of the parties the contract of insurance may be concluded for a different period which should be stipulated in the contract of insurance.

The contract of insurance shall come into force from the moment of payment of the insurance premium or first installment of the insurance premium, unless otherwise agreed by the contract.

38.1 When the contract of insurance implies that it shall come into force from the moment other than payment of insurance premium or first installment of insurance premium, in case the insurance premium or first installment of insurance premium was not paid within 30 days from the due date

indicated in the contract of insurance (or respective invoice), the Insurer is entitled to cancel the contract of insurance by giving written notice to the Insured. In case the contract of insurance did not come into force at the time the Insurer was entitled to cancel the insurance as per above clause, such contract of insurance shall be deemed invalid and shall not entail any legal consequences for the parties thereto.

- 38.2 In case of non-payment of respective installment of the insurance premium within 10 days from the due date indicated in the contract of insurance (or respective invoice), the Insurer is entitled to cancel the contract of insurance unilaterally by giving written notice to the Insured.
- 38.3 The moment of cancellation of Contract of Insurance as per Para 1 and 2 of this Rule can be specified as follows:
 - a) due date stipulated in the contract of insurance for payment of insurance premium (installment), in case notice of cancellation was sent to the Insured not later than 45 days from the due date indicated in the contracts concluded with legal entities; and not later than 60 days from the due date indicated in the contracts concluded with individuals.
 - b) Date of sending of notice of cancellation in case this notice was sent by the Insurer later than 45 days from the due date indicated in the contracts concluded with legal entities; and later than 60 days from the due date indicated in the contracts with individuals. The Insurer is not liable to effect any payments of claims arising on or after the date of cancellation of the contract of insurance as defined in this paragraph.

- 38.4 In case contract of insurance was unilaterally terminated by the Insurer in accordance with Para 2 and 3 of this Rule the insurance premium paid to the Insurer shall not be returned to the Insured.
- **38.5** Other consequences of non-payment of the insurance premium (or respective installment) by the Insured could be determined by the contract of insurance.

Rule 39 Premium payment procedure

The Insured shall be obliged to pay to the Insurer either installments or the full amount of insurance premium within the periods stipulated by the contract.

- 39.1 In case of cash payment the date of payment of insurance premium shall be considered as: the date of payment to the Insurer's cash department. In addition the date of debiting the Insured's account for the amount of the insurance premium, provided such an amount shall be actually credited to the Insurer's account in case of non-cash payment.
- 39.2 In case of a total loss of the Insured ship whether Actual or Constructive the Insured(s) is to effect immediate payment of the full amount of insurance premium for the whole period of insurance.

Rule 40 Consequences of failure to pay premium

When the Insured has failed to pay insurance premium within the periods and in the amounts specified in the contract of insurance or in the relevant invoice, and taking into consideration the provisions of Rule 38, the Insurer shall be entitled:

- a) To demand that the Insured fulfill the obligation to pay premium;
- **b)** To cancel the contract of insurance:
- **c)** To impose penalties in compliance with the provisions of civil legislation.

Rule 41 Validity of the contract of insurance

The contract of insurance is valid until mutual obligations are fully fulfilled by the parties.

Rule 42 Mortgagees

At the request of a mortgagee and with the consent of the insured, the insurer may in their discretion agree:

- a) to pay to the mortgagees or to their order any recovery the Insured is entitled to receive from the funds of The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in respect of any liability costs or expenses incurred by the insured on the receipt of notice from the mortgagees that the Insured is in default under the mortgage.
- b) to inform the mortgagees if notice is given to the Insured in respect of the Entered Ship, that his insurance in The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in respect of such ship is to cease.
- c) to give the mortgagees 14 day notice of The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club's to cancel the insurance of the Insured by reason of his failure to pay when due and demanded any sum due from him to The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club.

SECTION 4 Settlement of claims between the parties

Rule 43 Notification of the insurer of the events provided for by the contract of insurance

In case of occurrence of an event provided for by the contract of insurance, which may entail liability of the Insured the latter shall be obliged to notify the Insurer thereof immediately in writing. If the Insured fails to either notify or notify in due course of the occurrence of such event and the said failure does not allow the Insurer to duly undertake all steps for preventing or reducing the claim, the Insurer shall have the right to reject the Insured's claim for reimbursement in whole or in part.

Rule 44 The Insurer's rights in handling and settlement of claims In all matters connected with handling and settlement of claims, the Insurer shall have the right:

- a) to require any information and documents relating to the insured event from the Insured:
- b) to appoint or employ surveyors, experts, lawyers and other persons on behalf of the Insured for handling, considering and settlement of claims - at the Insurer's discretion:
- c) to participate in court and arbitration proceedings on behalf of the Insured. For this purpose the Insured shall be obliged to confer a power of attorney on the Insurer specifying relevant powers and authorities:
- d) To control handling and settlement of third parties' claims by the Insured including handling and settlement thereof in court and arbitration instances, to give instructions to the Insured on handling, settlement and payment of claims including compromise settlements on the conditions, in the amounts and within the terms which the Insurer shall deem fit.

- 44.1 Any actions of the Insurer aimed at prevention of an insured risk, ascertainment of the causes of the event or casualty which may result in the Insured's liability, as well as at reducing of the amount of claim raised against the Insured by third parties or at rejection of such a claim, shall not lead to unconditional acknowledgement of the Insurer's liability by the Insurer and obligations to reimburse the Insured's expenses in respect of the particular insured event.
- 44.2 If the Insured fails to assist the Insurer in exercising his rights listed in this section or to comply with the Insurer's instructions, the Insurer shall be entitled to reject the Insured's claims for reimbursement or to reduce the sum thereof.
- 44.3 Unless the Directors in their discretion otherwise decide, it is a condition precedent of an Insured's right to recover from the funds of The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in respect of any liabilities, cost or expenses that he shall first have discharged or paid the same.
- 44.4 Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 44.3, where an Insured has failed to discharge a liability to pay damages or compensation for death, personal injury or illness of a seaman under Rule 6 and Rule 7 (a "Crew Claim"), or MLC 2006 Liability under Rule 8.3, The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club shall pay such Crew Claim or discharge such MLC 2006 Liability on the Insured's behalf directly to such seaman or dependant thereof.

PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT:

(a) The seaman or dependant has no enforceable right of recovery against any other parties and would otherwise be uncompensated,

- (b) Subject to (d) below, the amount payable by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club shall under no circumstances exceed the amount which the Insured would have been able to recover from The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club under the Rules and the Insured's terms of entry,
- (c) The Insured shall be liable to reimburse The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in full any MLC 2006 Liability save to the extent that any part thereof is recoverable under Rule 8.1 and Rule 8.2,
- (d) Where The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club is under no liability to the Insured in respect of a Crew Claim or MLC 2006 Liability in accordance with Rule 40, The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club shall nevertheless discharge or pay that MLC 2006 Liability or Crew Claim to the extent only that either arises from an obligation created or an event occurring prior to the date of Cesser, but as agent only of the Insured, and the Insured shall be liable to reimburse The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club for the full amount of such payment.

Rule 45 Acknowledgment by the Insured of the Insured's liability for damage caused to third parties, the Insured's consent to settle and pay claims

The Insured shall not be entitled to either expressly or by implication (including via representatives) acknowledge his liability, to give consent to or assume obligations on amicable settlement as well as to actually pay claims of third parties without the prior written consent of the Insurer.

Failure by the Insured to comply with this requirement shall give ground for rejection by the Insurer of the Insured's claim for full or partial reimbursement.

SECTION 5 Insurance reimbursement

Rule 46 Return to the Insurer of reimbursement recovered by the Insured from third parties

In case the Insured receives both compensation from third parties and reimbursement from the Insurer under the same insured event, the Insured shall be obliged to return to the Insurer reimbursement received from him in the amount equal to the sum recovered from third parties but not in excess of the sum of reimbursement paid by the Insurer.

Rule 47 List of grounds for rejecting the insurance reimbursement by the Insurer

Grounds for rejecting the insurance reimbursement by the Insurer shall be as follows:

- 47.1 Grounds listed in Rule 31,
- **47.2** The event that caused the Insured's liability occurred either before commencement of the contract of insurance or after termination thereof;
- **47.3** The event that caused the Insured's liability occurred outside the territory of validity of the contract of insurance;
- **47.4** Failure of the Insured to fulfill the obligation to pay premium under Rule 39.
- **47.5** Submission by the Insured to the Insurer of patently false information or counterfeit documents relating to the relevant contract of insurance or the event insured:

- **47.6** Breach by the Insured of the terms and conditions of the contract of insurance and additional terms inserted in the contract of insurance under Rule 34
- **47.7** Failure of the Insured to give notice to the Insurer in proper time and in the order according to Rule 43 of these Rules.
- 47.8 Waiver by the Insured of the rights to claim against the parties responsible for damage to property interests of third parties, or impossibility to effect subrogation through the Insured's fault (delay in lodging a claim against the parties responsible for the losses, etc.).
- **47.9** Recovery received by the Insured from the party responsible for damage to property interests of third parties;
- 47.10 Submission of requirements for claims reimbursement, occurred as a result of transportation of weapons of war or its parts including bullets other warheads ,mines, bombs and other parts of weapons of war, not depending on presence of cause-effect relation between such carriage and claims for reimbursement excluding cases where such liability was explicitly covered by contract of insurance.

SECTION 6 DISPUTES AND APPLICABLE LAW

Rule 48 Disputes and Applicable law

Any dispute or disagreement arising out of or relating to the contract of insurance concluded according to these Rules or its breach, termination or invalidity shall, if possible, be settled by means of negotiations between the parties. If no agreement has been reached by the parties, disputes shall be referred to the Iranian law at the Iranian Court, unless the parties have otherwise agreed.

SECTION 7 LAID UP RETURNS

Rule 49 Laid up Returns

- a) Unless otherwise agreed, if an Entered Ship is laid-up without Cargo in a safe port as approved by the Managers, subject to production of evidence of safe lay up, for more than 30 days with not more than a quarter of her usual complement of officers and crew on board, the Insured is entitled to a reduction of 50% in the agreed premium after deduction of administrative expenses, payable for the period of lay-up provided such claim is notified in writing to the Managers within three months of the cessation of such lay-up.
- b) Notwithstanding Rule 49 (a), if an Entered Ship has been laid-up or is likely to be laid-up without Cargo for more than 90 days with not more than a quarter of her usual complement of officers and crew on board, the Insured at the Manager's sole discretion may terminate the Entry hereunder and make such other arrangements for coverage as is deemed appropriate by the Insured. A pro rata return of the annual premium for the

unexpired proportion of the Entry Year will be granted to the Insured, after deduction of administrative expenses, subject to there being no payment of premium outstanding in accordance with Rule 39 and provided that a claim for a pro rata return is notified in writing to the Managers within three months of the end of the Entry Year.

APPENDIX 1

Pre-loading survey

Finished steel cargo:

In the event of the ship carrying finished steel cargo, it is a condition of cover that:

- a) The insured will arrange for surveyors approved by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club to carry out a pre-loading survey of the cargo in order to establish its' condition immediately before loading on the ship.
- b) Bills of Lading will be claused in accordance with the findings of preloading surveys required under this clause.
- c) The cost and expenses of Pre-loading survey will be paid by the insurer.

Bagged cargo:

In the event an entered ship be required to load bagged cargo, the insured will promptly advise The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club who will arrange for an approved surveyor at the insurer's expense, to conduct a pre-loading survey at the port(s) of shipment to supervise the loading, stowage and note the apparent condition of the bagged cargo and tally the cargo at the expense of the Insured as it is loaded aboard the ship. All Bills of Lading will be claused in accordance with the findings of pre-loading surveys required under this clause.

On discharge of the bagged cargo, a discharge survey is to be arranged by surveyors approved by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club at the insurer's expense, to supervise the discharge, determine the nature of any apparent damaged or torn bags, any shortage of cargo and any loss or damage attributable to stevedores and tally the bagged cargo at the expense of the Insured.

APPENDIX 2

In accordance with Rule 34, the Insurer shall have the right to insert the following clauses and warranties in the insurance policy:

Seaworthiness guarantee:

At the commencement of each voyage the Ship-owner/Insured shall be bound to effect due diligence to make the ship seaworthy in all respects for the purpose of the particular adventure insured.

ISM Code Clause:

The Insured shall procure that both the Ship(s) and "the Company" shall comply with the requirements of the ISM Code if such requirement is provided for by chapter IX of the International Convention for the Safety of Life At Sea, 1974 with amendments 1994.

Classification and certification of the ship

- 1) It shall be a condition of the insurance of the ship that:
 - a. the ship shall be and remain throughout the period of entry classed with a classification society approved by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club;
 - b. the Insured shall promptly call to the attention of that classification society any incident, occurrence or condition which has given or might have given rise to damage in respect of which the classification society might make recommendations as to repairs or other action to be taken by the Insured;

- c. the Insured shall comply with all the rules, recommendations and requirements of that classification society relating to the ship within the time or times specified by The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club;
- d. The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club is authorized to inspect any documents and obtain any information relating to the maintenance of class of the ship in the possession of any classification society with which the ship is or has at any time been classed prior to and during the period of insurance and such classification society or societies are authorized to disclose and make available such documents and information to The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club upon request by it and for whatsoever purpose The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in its sole discretion may consider necessary.
- e. the Insured shall immediately inform The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club if, at any time during the period of entry, the classification society with which the ship is classed is changed and advise The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club of all outstanding recommendations, requirements or restrictions specified by any classification society relating to the ship as at the date of such change;
- f. the Insured shall comply or procure compliance with all statutory requirements of the state of the ship's flag relating to the construction, adaptation, condition, fitment, equipment, manning, safe operation, security and management of the ship and at all times shall maintain or procure the maintenance of the validity of such statutory certificates as are issued by or on behalf of the state of the ship's flag in relation to such compliance.

- 2) The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club shall notify the Insured when it intends to inspect classification documents or request information documents or request information from a classification society in accordance with Para 1.d.
- 3) The Insured shall not be entitled to any recovery from The Qeshm International Trust Alliance P&I Club in respect of any claim arising during a period when the insured is not fulfilling or has not fulfilled the conditions in Para 1., provided always that where the entry of a ship is solely in the name of or on behalf of a charterer, and the charterer is not responsible for the maintenance of the ship, or for compliance with classification or statutory requirements, the rights of recovery of such charterer shall not be dependent on fulfillment of the conditions in Para 1(b, c, d, e and f) above.

Joint Insured Clause (Jointly and Severally Insured)

- a. The Insurer agree to extend insurance in respect of an Insured ship to a Joint Insured, subject to the following terms and conditions:
- b. The Insured and each Joint Insured shall be jointly and severally liable for payment of any premium due to the Insurer. Each Joint Insured has a right to be indemnified by the Insurer against any loss or expense for which such Joint Insured is legally liable and which arises from liability or expense which is specified in the contract of insurance.
- c. A Joint Insured shall not be indemnified against any loss or expense unless it arises out of the operations for which the Insured would be responsible as a Ship-owner.

- d. The Insurer shall not indemnify the Insured or Joint Insured against loss or expense which arises from a dispute between the Insured and a Joint Insured or between one Joint Insured and another.
- e. Each Joint Insured shall comply with all the obligations of the Insured under the contract of insurance, including its obligations to disclose material information, as if it were itself the Insured.
- f. An act or omission of the Insured or any Joint Insured shall be deemed to be the act or omission of the Insured and all Joint Insured.
- g. Any notice or other communication by the Insurer to the Insured or any Joint Insured shall be deemed to be a notice of communication to the Insured and all Joint Insured.
- h. Any payment by the Insurer in satisfaction of a liability insured under the contract of insurance shall be deemed to have been received by the Insured and all Joint Insured, and the Insurer shall thereby be fully discharged from its obligations to the Insured and all Joint Insured in respect of such liability.
- i. All other terms, conditions, exclusions and limitations of the contract of insurance, in so far as they are not inconsistent with the above, shall apply to the Insured and all Joint Insured.

APPENDIX 3

Special provision for charterers' cover

An Insured may be covered against liabilities, together with costs and expenses incidental thereto, which may be incurred by reason of his interest as charterer other than a charterer by demise of a ship which he has covered for insurance in accordance with these Rules and his Certificate of Entry. The following may be covered on such special terms as may be agreed in writing by the Managers:

(a) P&I

The Insured's liability, together with costs and expenses incidental thereto for risks covered in accordance with these Rules

(b) Hull damage

The Insured's liability, together with costs and expenses incidental thereto, for damage to or loss of the Insured ship

(c) Bunkers

Loss incurred by the Insured as a result of the loss of or damage to bunkers, fuel or other property of Insured on board the Insured ship

(d) Loss of Freight or Hire

Loss of Freight or hire payable under a charter party.

APPENDIX 4

Standard Form Letters of Indemnity

CONTENTS:

- A) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo without Production of the Original Bill of Lading
- B) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo without Production of the Original Bill of Lading Incorporating a Bank's Agreement to join in the Letter of Indemnity
- C) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading
- D) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading Incorporating a Bank's Agreement to join in the Letter of Indemnity
- E) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading and Without Production of the Original Bill of Lading
- F) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading and Without Production of the Original Bill of Lading Incorporating a Bank's Agreement to join in the Letter of Indemnity.

A) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo Without Production of the Original Bill of Lading

To: [insert name of Owners] / Date: [insert date]
The Owners of the [insert name of ship] / [insert address]

Dear Sirs

Ship: [insert name of ship]

Voyage: [insert load and discharge ports as stated in the bill of

lading]

Cargo: [insert description of cargo]

Bill of Lading: [insert identification numbers, date and place of

issue]

The above cargo was shipped on the above ship by [insert name of shipper] and consigned to [insert name of consignee or party to whose order the bill of lading is made out, as appropriate] for delivery at the port of [insert name of discharge port stated in the bill of lading] but the bill of lading has not arrived and we, [insert name of party requesting delivery], hereby request you to deliver the said cargo to [insert name of the party to whom delivery is to be given] or to such party as you believe to be or to represent [insert same name] or to be acting on behalf of [insert same name] at [insert place where delivery is to be made] without production of the original bill of lading.

In consideration of your complying with our above request, we hereby agree as follows:

 To indemnify you, your servants and agents and to hold all of you harmless in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which you may sustain by reason of delivering the cargo in accordance with our request.

- In the event of any proceedings being commenced against you
 or any of your servants or agents in connection with the delivery
 of the cargo as aforesaid, to provide you or them on demand
 with sufficient funds to defend the same.
- 3. If, in connection with the delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, the ship, or any other ship or property in the same or associated ownership, management or control, should be arrested or detained or should the arrest or detention thereof be threatened, or should there be any interference in the use or trading of the vessel (whether by virtue of a caveat being entered on the ship's registry or otherwise howsoever), to provide on demand such bail or other security as may be required to prevent such arrest or detention or to secure the release of such ship or property or to remove such interference and to indemnify you in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense caused by such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference, whether or not such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference may be justified.
- 4. If the place at which we have asked you to make delivery is a bulk liquid or gas terminal or facility, or another ship, lighter or barge, then delivery to such terminal, facility, ship, lighter or barge shall be deemed to be delivery to the party to whom we have requested you to make such delivery.
- As soon as all original bills of lading for the above cargo shall have come into our possession, to deliver the same to you, or otherwise to cause all original bills of lading to be delivered to you, whereupon our liability hereunder shall cease.

- The liability of each and every person under this indemnity shall be joint and several and shall not be conditional upon your proceeding first against any person, whether or not such person is party to or liable under this indemnity.
- 7. This indemnity shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law and each and every person liable under this indemnity shall at your request submit to the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice of England.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of / [insert name of Requestor]
The Requestor / Signature

B) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo Without Production of the Original Bill of Lading Incorporating a Bank's Agreement to join in the Letter of Indemnity

To: [insert name of Owners] / Date: [insert date]
The Owners of the [insert name of ship] / [insert address]

Dear Sirs

Ship: [insert name of ship]

Voyage: [insert load and discharge ports as stated in the bill of

lading]

Cargo: [insert description of cargo]

Bill of Lading: [insert identification numbers, date and place of issue] The above cargo was shipped on the above ship by [insert name of shipper] and consigned to [insert name of consignee or party to whose order the bill of lading is made out, as appropriate] for delivery at the port of [insert name of discharge port stated in the bill of lading] but the bill of lading has not arrived and we, [insert name of party requesting delivery], hereby request you to deliver the said cargo to [insert name of the party to whom delivery is to be given] or to such party as you believe to be or to represent [insert same name] or to be acting on behalf of [insert same name] at [insert place where delivery is to be made] without production of the original bill of lading.

In consideration of your complying with our above request, we hereby agree as follows:

 To indemnify you, your servants and agents and to hold all of you harmless in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which you may sustain by reason of delivering the cargo in accordance with our request.

- In the event of any proceedings being commenced against you
 or any of your servants or agents in connection with the delivery
 of the cargo as aforesaid, to provide you or them on demand
 with sufficient funds to defend the same.
- 3. If, in connection with the delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, the ship, or any other ship or property in the same or associated ownership, management or control, should be arrested or detained or should the arrest or detention thereof be threatened, or should there be any interference in the use or trading of the vessel (whether by virtue of a caveat being entered on the ship's registry or otherwise howsoever), to provide on demand such bail or other security as may be required to prevent such arrest or detention or to secure the release of such ship or property or to remove such interference and to indemnify you in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense caused by such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference, whether or not such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference may be justified.
- 4. If the place at which we have asked you to make delivery is a bulk liquid or gas terminal or facility, or another ship, lighter or barge, then delivery to such terminal, facility, ship, lighter or barge shall be deemed to be delivery to the party to whom we have requested you to make such delivery.
- As soon as all original bills of lading for the above cargo shall have come into our possession, to deliver the same to you, or otherwise to cause all original bills of lading to be delivered to you, whereupon our liability hereunder shall cease.

- The liability of each and every person under this indemnity shall be joint and several and shall not be conditional upon your proceeding first against any person, whether or not such person is party to or liable under this indemnity.
- 7. This indemnity shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law and each and every person liable under this indemnity shall at your request submit to the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice of England.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
[insert name of Requestor]
The Requestor
Signature

We, [insert name of the Bank], hereby agree to join in this Indemnity providing always that the Bank's liability:

- Shall be restricted to payment of specified sums of money demanded in relation to the Indemnity (and shall not extend to the provision of bail or other security)
- 2. Shall be to make payment to you forthwith on your written demand in the form of a signed letter certifying that the amount demanded is a sum due to be paid to you under the terms of the Indemnity and has not been paid to you by the Requestor or is a sum which represents monetary compensation due to you in respect of the failure by the Requestor to fulfill its obligations to you under the Indemnity. For the avoidance of doubt the Bank hereby confirms that:
- a. Such compensation shall include, but not be limited to, payment of any amount up to the amount stated in proviso 3 below in

order to enable you to arrange the provision of security to release the ship (or any other ship in the same or associated ownership, management or control) from arrest or to prevent any such arrest or to prevent any interference in the use or trading of the ship, or other ship as aforesaid, and

- b. In the event that the amount of compensation so paid is less than the amount stated in proviso 3 below, the liability of the Bank hereunder shall continue but shall be reduced by the amount of compensation paid.
- 3. Shall be limited to a sum or sums not exceeding in aggregate [insert currency and amount in figures and words]
- 4. Subject to proviso 5 below, shall terminate on [date six years from the date of the Indemnity] (the 'Termination Date'), except in respect of any demands for payment received by the Bank hereunder at the address indicated below on or before that date.
- 5. Shall be extended at your request from time to time for a period of two calendar years at a time provided that:
- The Bank shall receive a written notice signed by you and stating that the Indemnity is required by you to remain in force for a further period of two years, and
- Such notice is received by the Bank at the address indicated below on or before the then current Termination Date.
 Any such extension shall be for a period of two years from the then current Termination Date and, should the Bank for any reason be unwilling to extend the Termination Date, the Bank shall discharge its liability by the payment to you of the

maximum sum payable hereunder (or such lesser sum as you may require).

However, in the event of the Bank receiving a written notice signed by you, on or before the then current Termination Date, stating that legal proceedings have been commenced against you as a result of your having delivered the said cargo as specified in the Indemnity, the Bank agrees that its liability hereunder will not terminate until receipt by the Bank of your signed written notice stating that all legal proceedings have been concluded and that any sum or sums payable to you by the Requestor and/or the Bank in connection therewith have been paid and received in full and final settlement of all liabilities arising under the Indemnity.

Shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law governing the Indemnity and the Bank agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the court stated within the Indemnity.

It should be understood that, where appropriate, the Bank will only produce and deliver to you all original bills of lading should the same come into the Bank's possession, but the Bank agrees that, in that event, it shall do so.

The Bank agrees to promptly notify you in the event of any change in the full details of the office to which any demand or notice is to be addressed and which is stated below and it is agreed that you shall also promptly notify the Bank in the event of any change in your address as stated above.

Please quote the Bank's Indemnity Ref in all correspondence with the Bank and any demands for payment and notices hereunder.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
[insert name of bank]

[insert full details of the office to which any demand or notice is to be addressed]
Signature

C) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading

To: [insert name of Owners] / Date: [insert date]
The Owners of the [insert name of ship] / [insert address]

Dear Sirs

Ship: [insert name of ship]

Voyage: [insert load and discharge ports as stated in the bill of

lading]

Cargo: [insert description of cargo]

Bill of Lading: [insert identification numbers, date and place of

issue]

The above cargo was shipped on the above ship by [insert name of shipper] and consigned to [insert name of consignee or party to whose order the bill of lading is made out, as appropriate] for delivery at the port of [insert name of discharge port stated in the bill of lading] but we, [insert name of party requesting substituted delivery], hereby request you to order the ship to proceed to and deliver the said cargo at [insert name of substitute port or place of delivery] against production of at least one original bill of lading.

In consideration of your complying with our above request, we hereby agree as follows:

 To indemnify you, your servants and agents and to hold all of you harmless in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which you may sustain by reason of the ship proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo against production of at least one original bill of lading in accordance with our request.

- In the event of any proceedings being commenced against you
 or any of your servants or agents in connection with the ship
 proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, to
 provide you or them on demand with sufficient funds to defend
 the same.
- 3. If, in connection with the delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, the ship, or any other ship or property in the same or associated ownership, management or control, should be arrested or detained or should the arrest or detention thereof be threatened, or should there be any interference in the use or trading of the vessel (whether by virtue of a caveat being entered on the ship's registry or otherwise howsoever), to provide on demand such bail or other security as may be required to prevent such arrest or detention or to secure the release of such ship or property or to remove such interference and to indemnify you in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense caused by such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference, whether or not such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference may be justified.
- 4. The liability of each and every person under this indemnity shall be joint and several and shall not be conditional upon your proceeding first against any person, whether or not such person is party to or liable under this indemnity.
- This indemnity shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law and each and every person liable under this indemnity shall at your request submit to the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice of England.

Yours faithfully For and on behalf of

[insert name of Requestor] The Requestor Signature A) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading Incorporating a Bank's Agreement to join in the Letter of Indemnity

To: [insert name of Owners] / Date: [insert date]
The Owners of the [insert name of ship] / [insert address]

Dear Sirs

Ship: [insert name of ship]

Voyage: [insert load and discharge ports as stated in the bill of lading]

Cargo: [insert description of cargo]

Bill of Lading: [insert identification numbers, date and place of issue]

The above cargo was shipped on the above ship by [insert name of shipper] and consigned to [insert name of consignee or party to whose order the bill of lading is made out, as appropriate] for delivery at the port of [insert name of discharge port stated in the bill of lading] but we, [insert name of party requesting substituted delivery], hereby request you to order the ship to proceed to and deliver the said cargo at [insert name of substitute port or place of delivery] against production of at least one original bill of lading.

In consideration of your complying with our above request, we hereby agree as follows:

 To indemnify you, your servants and agents and to hold all of you harmless in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which you may sustain by reason of the ship proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo against production of at least one original bill of lading in accordance with our request.

- In the event of any proceedings being commenced against you or any of your servants or agents in connection with the ship proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, to provide you or them on demand with sufficient funds to defend the same.
- 3. If, in connection with the delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, the ship, or any other ship or property in the same or associated ownership, management or control, should be arrested or detained or should the arrest or detention thereof be threatened, or should there be any interference in the use or trading of the vessel (whether by virtue of a caveat being entered on the ship's registry or otherwise howsoever), to provide on demand such bail or other security as may be required to prevent such arrest or detention or to secure the release of such ship or property or to remove such interference and to indemnify you in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense caused by such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference, whether or not such interference may be justified.
- 4. The liability of each and every person under this indemnity shall be joint and several and shall not be conditional upon your proceeding first against any person, whether or not such person is party to or liable under this indemnity.
- This indemnity shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law and each and every person liable under this indemnity shall at your request submit to the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice of England.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of [insert name of Requestor] The Requestor Signature

We, [insert name of the Bank], hereby agree to join in this Indemnity providing always that the Bank's liability:

- Shall be restricted to payment of specified sums of money demanded in relation to the Indemnity (and shall not extend to the provision of bail or other security)
- 2. Shall be to make payment to you forthwith on your written demand in the form of a signed letter certifying that the amount demanded is a sum due to be paid to you under the terms of the Indemnity and has not been paid to you by the Requestor or is a sum which represents monetary compensation due to you in respect of the failure by the Requestor to fulfill its obligations to you under the Indemnity. For the avoidance of doubt the Bank hereby confirms that:
- a. Such compensation shall include, but not be limited to, payment of any amount up to the amount stated in proviso 3 below in order to enable you to arrange the provision of security to release the ship (or any other ship in the same or associated ownership, management or control) from arrest or to prevent any such arrest or to prevent any interference in the use or trading of the ship, or other ship as aforesaid, and;
- b. In the event that the amount of compensation so paid is less than the amount stated in proviso 3 below, the liability of the Bank hereunder shall continue but shall be reduced by the amount of compensation paid.

- 3. Shall be limited to a sum or sums not exceeding in aggregate [insert currency and amount in figures and words.
- 4. Subject to proviso 5 below, shall terminate on [date six years from the date of the Indemnity] (the 'Termination Date'), except in respect of any demands for payment received by the Bank hereunder at the address indicated below on or before that date.
- 5. Shall be extended at your request from time to time for a period of two calendar years at a time provided that:
- a. The Bank shall receive a written notice signed by you and stating that the Indemnity is required by you to remain in force for a further period of two years, and;
- b. Such notice is received by the Bank at the address indicated below on or before the then current Termination Date. Any such extension shall be for a period of two years from the then current Termination Date and, should the Bank for any reason be unwilling to extend the Termination Date, the Bank shall discharge its liability by the payment to you of the maximum sum payable hereunder (or such lesser sum as you may require).

However, in the event of the Bank receiving a written notice signed by you, on or before the then current Termination Date, stating that legal proceedings have been commenced against you as a result of your having delivered the said cargo as specified in the Indemnity, the Bank agrees that its liability hereunder will not terminate until receipt by the Bank of your signed written notice stating that all legal proceedings have been concluded and that any sum or sums payable to you by

the Requestor and/or the Bank in connection therewith have been paid and received in full and final settlement of all liabilities arising under the Indemnity.

Shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law governing the Indemnity and the Bank agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the court stated within the Indemnity.

It should be understood that, where appropriate, the Bank will only produce and deliver to you all original bills of lading should the same come into the Bank's possession, but the Bank agrees that, in that event, it shall do so.

The Bank agrees to promptly notify you in the event of any change in the full details of the office to which any demand or notice is to be addressed and which is stated below and it is agreed that you shall also promptly notify the Bank in the event of any change in your address as stated above.

Please quote the Bank's Indemnity Ref in all correspondence with the Bank and any demands for payment and notices hereunder.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
[insert name of bank]
[insert full details of the office to which any demand or notice is to be addressed]

B) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading and Without Production of the Original Bill of Lading

To: [insert name of Owners]

Date: [insert date]

The Owners of the [insert name of ship]

[insert address]

Dear Sirs

Ship: [insert name of ship]

Voyage: [insert load and discharge ports as stated in the bill of

lading]

Cargo: [insert description of cargo]

Bill of Lading: [insert identification numbers, date and place of

issue]

The above cargo was shipped on the above vessel by [insert name of shipper] and consigned to [insert name of consignee or party to whose order the bills of lading are made out, as appropriate] for delivery at the port of [insert name of discharge port stated in the bills of lading] but we, [insert name of party requesting substituted delivery], hereby request you to order the vessel to proceed to and deliver the said cargo at [insert name of substitute port or place of delivery] to [insert name of the party to whom delivery is to be given] or to such party as you believe to be or to represent [insert same name] or to be acting on behalf of [insert same name] without production of the original bill of lading.

In consideration of your complying with our above request, we hereby agree as follows:

1. To indemnify you, your servants and agents and to hold all of you harmless in respect of any liability, loss, damage or

- expense of whatsoever nature which you may sustain by reason of the ship proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo in accordance with our request.
- In the event of any proceedings being commenced against you
 or any of your servants or agents in connection with the ship
 proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, to
 provide you or them on demand with sufficient funds to defend
 the same.
- 3. If, in connection with the delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, the ship, or any other ship or property in the same or associated ownership, management or control, should be arrested or detained or should the arrest or detention thereof be threatened, or should there be any interference in the use or trading of the vessel (whether by virtue of a caveat being entered on the ship's registry or otherwise howsoever), to provide on demand such bail or other security as may be required to prevent such arrest or detention or to secure the release of such ship or property or to remove such interference and to indemnify you in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense caused by such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference, whether or not such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference may be justified.
- 4. If the place at which we have asked you to make delivery is a bulk liquid or gas terminal or facility, or another ship, lighter or barge, then delivery to such terminal, facility, ship, lighter or barge shall be deemed to be delivery to the party to whom we have requested you to make such delivery.

- As soon as all original bills of lading for the above cargo shall have come into our possession, to deliver the same to you, or otherwise to cause all original bills of lading to be delivered to you.
- The liability of each and every person under this indemnity shall be joint and several and shall not be conditional upon your proceeding first against any person, whether or not such person is party to or liable under this indemnity.
- 7. This indemnity shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law and each and every person liable under this indemnity shall at your request submit to the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice of England.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
[insert name of Requestor]
The Requestor
Signature

C) Standard Form Letter of Indemnity to be given in return for Delivering Cargo at a Port other than that Stated in the Bill of Lading and Without Production of the Original Bill of Lading Incorporating a Bank's Agreement to join in the Letter of Indemnity

To: [insert name of Owners] / Date: [insert date]
The Owners of the [insert name of ship] / [insert address]

Dear Sirs

Ship: [insert name of ship]

Voyage: [insert load and discharge ports as stated in the bill of

lading]

Cargo: [insert description of cargo]

Bill of Lading: [insert identification numbers, date and place of issue]

The above cargo was shipped on the above vessel by [insert name of shipper] and consigned to [insert name of consignee or party to whose order the bills of lading are made out, as appropriate] for delivery at the port of [insert name of discharge port stated in the bills of lading] but we, [insert name of party requesting substituted delivery], hereby request you to order the vessel to proceed to and deliver the said cargo at [insert name of substitute port or place of delivery] to [insert name of the party to whom delivery is to be given] or to such party as you believe to be or to represent [insert same name] or to be acting on behalf of [insert same name] without production of the original bill of lading.

In consideration of your complying with our above request, we hereby agree as follows:

 To indemnify you, your servants and agents and to hold all of you harmless in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which you may sustain by

- reason of the ship proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo in accordance with our request.
- In the event of any proceedings being commenced against you
 or any of your servants or agents in connection with the ship
 proceeding and giving delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, to
 provide you or them on demand with sufficient funds to defend
 the same.
- 3. If, in connection with the delivery of the cargo as aforesaid, the ship, or any other ship or property in the same or associated ownership, management or control, should be arrested or detained or should the arrest or detention thereof be threatened, or should there be any interference in the use or trading of the vessel (whether by virtue of a caveat being entered on the ship's registry or otherwise howsoever), to provide on demand such bail or other security as may be required to prevent such arrest or detention or to secure the release of such ship or property or to remove such interference and to indemnify you in respect of any liability, loss, damage or expense caused by such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference, whether or not such arrest or detention or threatened arrest or detention or such interference may be justified.
- 4. If the place at which we have asked you to make delivery is a bulk liquid or gas terminal or facility, or another ship, lighter or barge, then delivery to such terminal, facility, ship, lighter or barge shall be deemed to be delivery to the party to whom we have requested you to make such delivery.
- 5. As soon as all original bills of lading for the above cargo shall have come into our possession, to deliver the same to you, or

otherwise to cause all original bills of lading to be delivered to you.

- The liability of each and every person under this indemnity shall be joint and several and shall not be conditional upon your proceeding first against any person, whether or not such person is party to or liable under this indemnity.
- 7. This indemnity shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law and each and every person liable under this indemnity shall at your request submit to the jurisdiction of the High Court of Justice of England.

Yours faithfully For and on behalf of [insert name of Requestor] The Requestor Signature

We, [insert name of the Bank], hereby agree to join in this Indemnity providing always that the Bank's liability:

- 1. Shall be restricted to payment of specified sums of money demanded in relation to the Indemnity (and shall not extend to the provision of bail or other security)
- 2. Shall be to make payment to you forthwith on your written demand in the form of a signed letter certifying that the amount demanded is a sum due to be paid to you under the terms of the Indemnity and has not been paid to you by the Requestor or is a sum which represents monetary compensation due to you in respect of the failure by the Requestor to fulfill its obligations

- to you under the Indemnity. For the avoidance of doubt the Bank hereby confirms that:
- a. Such compensation shall include, but not be limited to, payment of any amount up to the amount stated in proviso 3 below in order to enable you to arrange the provision of security to release the ship (or any other ship in the same or associated ownership, management or control) from arrest or to prevent any such arrest or to prevent any interference in the use or trading of the ship, or other ship as aforesaid, and;
- b. In the event that the amount of compensation so paid is less than the amount stated in proviso 3 below, the liability of the Bank hereunder shall continue but shall be reduced by the amount of compensation paid.
- 3. Shall be limited to a sum or sums not exceeding in aggregate [insert currency and amount in figures and words]
- 4. Subject to proviso 5 below, shall terminate on [date six years from the date of the Indemnity] (the 'Termination Date'), except in respect of any demands for payment received by the Bank hereunder at the address indicated below on or before that date.
- 5. Shall be extended at your request from time to time for a period of two calendar years at a time provided that:
- a. The Bank shall receive a written notice signed by you and stating that the Indemnity is required by you to remain in force for a further period of two years, and:

b. Such notice is received by the Bank at the address indicated below on or before the then current Termination Date.

Any such extension shall be for a period of two years from the then current Termination Date and, should the Bank for any reason be unwilling to extend the Termination Date, the Bank shall discharge its liability by the payment to you of the maximum sum payable hereunder (or such lesser sum as you may require).

However, in the event of the Bank receiving a written notice signed by you, on or before the then current Termination Date, stating that legal proceedings have been commenced against you as a result of your having delivered the said cargo as specified in the Indemnity, the Bank agrees that its liability hereunder will not terminate until receipt by the Bank of your signed written notice stating that all legal proceedings have been concluded and that any sum or sums payable to you by the Requestor and/or the Bank in connection therewith have been paid and received in full and final settlement of all liabilities arising under the Indemnity.

6. Shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law governing the Indemnity and the Bank agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the court stated within the Indemnity.

It should be understood that, where appropriate, the Bank will only produce and deliver to you all original bills of lading should the same come into the Bank's possession, but the Bank agrees that, in that event, it shall do so.

The Bank agrees to promptly notify you in the event of any change in the full details of the office to which any demand or notice is to be addressed and which is stated below and it is agreed that you shall also promptly notify the Bank in the event of any change in your address as stated above.

List of Correspondents

ALGERIA

Algiers

[Annaba] [Arzew] [Bejaia] [Oran] [Skikda] BUDD Algiers Cité des 720 Logements Bâtiment no. 4, No. 2 Les Vergers Birkhadem 16330, Algiers

Tel: 213 21 44 66 76 / 213 21 54 40 39 Fax: 213 21 54 30 53 / 213 21 54 43 26 Email: budd.algerie@budd-pni.com

Manager | Ms. Zakia Rahali

Office Mobile: 213 661 50 76 10

Office Email: <u>zakia.rahali@budd-pni.com</u>

A.O.H Tel: 213 21 44 09 37

Skype Name: buddpandial

ARGENTINA

Buenos Aires

Pandi Liquidadores S.R.L.

*Viamonte 494 - 8vo. Piso (C1053ABJ) Buenos Aires / Argentina

Phone: (54+11) 4313 3500 Fax: (54+11) 4313 3161

Email: alberto.trigub@pandi.com.ar

(general): pandi@pandi.com.ar

on duty mobile phone: (+54 9 11) 44460662

AUSTRALIA

Australian Ship P&I

Sydney (head office)

Address:Unit 2, 18-20 Park Street, Mona Vale, 2103 Sydney, NSW 2106

Phone: (0)2 9979 3633 (24 Hours - 7 Days)

Fax: (0)2 9979 3522

E- Mail: sydney@ausship.com.au

After Hours:

 James Neill:
 (0)2 9979 1974
 Mobile: (0) 425 263 633

 Drew James
 (0)2 9489 2015
 Mobile: (0) 407 892 015

 Andreas Alsterberg
 Mobile: (0) 413 554 934

 Simon Dunn
 (0)2 9997 4001
 Mobile: (0) 409 973 569

 Castellino:
 (0)2 9899 1719
 Mobile: (0) 412 737 270

BANGLADESH

Chittagong

Henderson International (BD) Ltd 5th Floor, HBFC Building 1/D, Agrabad C/A Chittagong 4100 Bangladesh

Tel: +88031711099 Fax: +88031717128

Khulna

1st Floor Jiban Bima Bhaban 46 KDA Avenue Khulna Bangladesh

Tel: +88041732271 Fax: +88041732272

email: survey@hendersonbd.org

PIC: Capt.Shaheen Iqbal Mobile: +8801711690027

Surveyor: Mr.Faruk Molla, Chief Engineer

Mobile: +8801745942465

BELARUS

Minsk

Oy Lars Krogius Ab

Minsk Tel.: +375 17 293 4678 Fax: +375 17 293 4678 E-mail: minsk@krogius.com

BELGIUM

Antwerp

Dupi Antwerp

Frankrijklei 33, B-2000 Antwerpen/Belgium

Tel: +32 3 206 00 50
Fax: +32 3 206 00 59
E-mail: antwerp@dupi.com
Web site: www.dupi.com

Capt.JEAN-LOUIS TACK(Claims Manager)

Tel: +32 3 206 00 53

E-mail: <u>Jean-Louis.Tack@dupi.com</u>

Mobile: +32 475 745 445

MONIQUE LARDOT(Cargo/Legal)

Tel: +32 3 206 00 57

E-mail: monique.lardot@dupi.com

Mobile: +32 478 989 806

SOPHIE VAN WIJNEDAELE (CARGO/LEGAL)

Tel: +32 3 206 00 58

E-mail: sophie.van.wijnendaele.Tack@dupi.com

Mobile: +32 473 755 923

Antwerp

LANGLOIS & Co. N.V. 115 Frankrijklei B – 2000 ANTWERP - Belgium

Tel: (32) 3-2250655 Fax: (32) 3 232 88 24 Email: mail@langlois.be

24/24 hrs.

mobile: (32) 477- 34 94 10

Paul Goossens – email paul.goossens@langlois.be

direct telephone (32) 3 206 91 90 mobile phone: (32) 475 40 45 82

(after hours) home tel. no. (32) 2 767 34 07 Frank Morel – email <u>frank.morel@langlois.be</u>

direct telephone (32) 3 206 91 71 mobile phone: (32) 477 48 77 04 (after hours) home tel. no. (32) 3-458 42 57

Kurt Van Coppenolle – email: kurt.vancoppenolle@langlois.be

Telephone: (32) 3 206 91 73 Mobile phone: (32) 475 71 95 60

(after hours) home tel. no. (32) 475 71 95 60

Ghent

LANGLOIS & CO. N.V.

67b Raas Van Gaverestraat B – 9000 GHENT – Belgium Telephone: 32 9 251 23 06 / 251 35 53/Fax: 32 9 251 61 12

Email: gent@langlois.be

24/24 hrs. mobile: (32) 477 34 94 10

Hendrik Vanhoutte

Email: hendrik.vanhoutte@langlois.be

mobile phone: (32) 473 81 76 01

(after hours) home telephone no. (32) 9 369 60 93

Paul Dierkens

Email: <u>paul.dierkens@langlois.be</u> mobile phone: (32) 473 84 57 74

(after hours) home telephone no. (32) 9 220 59 40.

Elisabeth Sijmons

Email: <u>Elisabeth.sijmons@langlois.be</u> mobile phone (32) 475 49 94 14

BENIN

Cotonou

Sheringham P&I Services, c/o Compagnie d'Interventions et de Services, Fishing Harbour Terminal Zone 3 03 BP 3622 Cotonou, Republic of Benin

Mohamed YAYA NADJO

E-mails: balticis@intnet.bj / cis2m@intnet.bj

Tel: (+229) 21-31-48-31 / 21-31-81-51 Fax: (+229) 21-31-42-28 / 21-31-48-31

AOH (+229) 21-33-06-28

Mobile phones: (+229) 95-95-35-51 / 97-98-01-84

BRAZIL

Paranagua

Eduardo Kuhlmann

Kuhlmann Surveyors & Consultants

Tel: +55 41 9153 1111

Head Office Curitiba

Tel: +55 41 3557 6499

Head Office Paranagua

Tel: +55 41 2152 7600 / +55 41 3422 6923

Email: eduardo@kuhlmann.com.br

skype: kuhlmanneduardo

www.kuhlmann.com.br

www.unicar.com

BULGARIA

Bourgas

BULGARKONTROLA SA - BOURGAS BRANCH 8000 Bourgas 39 Lermontov str.

Tel.: +35956844472 Fax: +35956844475 Mob.: +359887595223

Email: bourgas@bulgarkontrola.bg

CANADA

Montreal, Quebec

Shipowners Assurance Management Ltd. 620 rue St. Jacques Suite 305 Montreal, Quebec H3C 1C7
Peter Rozum - President

Office Tel: (514) 393-9864/65/66 Office Fax: (514) 393-3848 Home Tel: (514) 694-3876 Cellular: (514) 594-6443

E-mail: peter.rozum@shipassurance.ca

Alan Loiseau - Manager Claims and Investigation

Office Tel: (514) 393-9864/65/66

Office Fax: (514) 393-3848 Home Tel: (450) 699-7400 Cellular: (514) 945-8884

E-mail: alan.loiseau@shipassurance.ca

Sean Rozum - Claims Executive

Office Tel: (514) 393-9864/65/66

Office Fax: (514) 393-3848 Home Tel: (450) 724-3203 Cellular: (514) 865-3876

E-Mail: sean.rozum@shipassurance.ca

CAMBODIA

Phnom Penh

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Mr. Por Sour/#293E0, Tep Phorn (St.182) Sangkat Teuk Laak II Khan Toul Kork Phnom Penh.Cambodia

Tel: +85523881963 Fax: +85523881964

E-mail: cambodia@cispandi.com

Mr. Por Sour

Mobile: +85511465555 / +85512706688

CHINA

Beijing

Huatai Insurance Agency & Consultant Service Ltd. 14F China Re Building, No.11 Jin Rong Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing 100140, China

Tel: 86 10 6657 6588 Fax: 86 10 6657 6501

Email: pni.bj@huatai-serv.com

Shanghai

International Shipping Bureau Room 1204 Marine towere No 1 Puddong Avenue, Shanghai 200120

Tel: 86 (21) 688 60181
Fax: 86 (21) 688 60182
Email: kristina@isbchina.net

CROATIA

Dubrovnik

CROATIA insurance Corp.
Branch office Dubrovnik/Marine Aviation and Transit department
Dr. Ante Starcevica 9, 20000 Dubrovnik

Phone: +385 20 44 88 75 Mobile: +385 91 1345 317 Fax: +385 20 44 88 30

Email: <u>hrvoje.jerkovic@crosig.hr</u>

CYPRUS

Limassol

Elias Marine Consultants Ltd. Maximos Court, Block B, Leontios A' Avenue P.O. Box 51455, Limassol CY-3505, Cyprus

Tel: +357 25 800 800 Fax: +357 25 800 801

Emergency Number 24/7: +357 25 800 999 General E-mail: emco@eliasmarine.com

AOH: Mr Imad Elias

Mobile Tel: + 357 99 670 225 /Residence: + 357 25 385 587

E-mail: i.elias@eliasmarine.com

Mr Nigel Cleave

Mobile Tel: + 357 99 670 299/Residence: + 357 25 818 014

E-mail: n.cleave@eliasmarine.com

Mr Marc Caramondanis

Mobile Tel: + 357 99 670 229/Residence: + 357 99 645 760

E-mail: m.caramondanis@eliasmarine.com

Mr Koula Louca

Mobile Tel: + 357 99 670 297 /Residence: + 357 25 721 582

E-mail: k.louca@eliasmarine.com

Limasol

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Ms. Maria Yakoupidou

Suite 102, P.O.Box 54189,118 Anexartisias Street, Limassol,

3040Cyprus

Tel: +35725763340 Fax: +35725763360

E-mail: cyprus@cispandi.com

After Office Hours: Ms. Maria Yakoupidou Mobile: +35799406120

EGYPT

Alexandria

Eldib Pandi - Alexandria
Postal Address: P.O. Box 700

Investment building 4th Floor, Office No. 12 Alexandria Port Gate

No. 14 Alexandria 21534

Office Telephone(s):

+2 03 4867776 - 4961000

Office Telefax(s): +2 03 4815600 - 4962000

Office 24 hrs Mobile Telephone(s):

+ 20 123273620

Office E-mail address(es): mail@eldibpandi.com

Name Home Tel and 24 hrs Mob and E-mail

Abdel Hamid Fahmy: + 2 03 484 6509 / + 2 012 214 3213 abdelhamid.fahmy@eldibpandi.com

Ahmed Metwally: + 2 03 545 6154 / +2 012 327 3624 ahmed.metwally@eldibpandi.com

Mohamed Hassan: + 2 03 534 7265 / + 2 012 327 3603

mohamed.hassan@eldibpandi.com

Alexandria

Elias Marine Consultants Ltd - Egypt Marhaba Business Centre, Office 406, 2 Sidi Mehrez Street, El Horreya Avenue, Alexandria, Egypt

Contact Person: Mr. Mohamed Moussa

Tel: +20 3 497 5560 Fax: +20 3 497 5561

Emergency Line 24/7: +357 25 800 999 E-mail: emco.eg@eliasmarine.com

AOH

Mr. Mohamed Moussa

Mobile Telephone(s): +20 10 879 5131

Residence: +20 3 546 9794

E-mail: emco.eg@eliasmarine.com

Mr. Rony Dergham

Mobile Telephone(s): +357 99 670 228

Residence: +357 25 331 434

E-mail: <u>r.dergham@eliasmarine.com</u>

Port Said

Eldib Pandi - Port Said

Postal Address: P.O. Box 920 Street Address: 23rd July & Salah El

Din Street Port Said 42111, Egypt

Office Telephone(s): + 20 66 3239779 / + 20 66 3239781/Office

Telefax(s): + 20 66 3239760

Office Mobile Telephone(s): + 20 123273620

Office E-mail addresses:

portsaid@eldibpandi.com hany.maamoon@eldibpandi.com ahmed.metwally@eldibpandi.com

Hany Maamoon: +20 66 332 8930 / +20 12 804 5582

Ashraf Mobarak: +2 018 775 3870 / ashraf.mobarak@eldibpandi.com

Ahmed Metwally: + 2 03 545 6154 / +2 012 327 3624 / ahmed.metwally@eldibpandi.com

Suez

6 El Imam El Leithy Street Port Tawfik, Suez 43522, Egypt

Office Telephone(s): + 20 62 3191570

Office Telefax(s): + 20 62 3198930

Office Mobile Telephone(s): + 20 123273620

Office E-mail Address(es): suez@eldibpandi.com

FRANCE

Dunkirk / Calais / Boulogne

BUDD Calais c/o N.S.L. / Site du Port de Calais

Tel: 33 142 56 36 12 Fax: 33 145 61 09 80

Site Créanor 2 route de Bergues, BP 7359412 Coudekerque-

Branche

Tel: 33 328 26 15 84 Fax: 33 328 26 13 57

Email: <u>budd.calais@budd-pni.com</u> / <u>budd.rouen@budd-pni.com</u>

Surveyor | Mr Damien Mallevaey Office Mobile: 33 680 33 31 56

Regional Manager & Lawyer for the Channel and Atlantic Ports

Ms Claudine Magnier

Office Tel: & Fax: 33 235 58 09 92 Office Mobile: 33 637 03 76 82

Office Email: claudine.magnier@budd-pni.com

A.O.H Tel: 33 620 54 12 91

Skype Name: claudemagnier /Surveyor | Mr Pierre Colette /Office

Mobile: 33 673 90 59 76

GERMANY

Hamburg

Claas W. Brons (GmbH & Co.) KG Sumatrakontor Überseeallee 1 D-20457 Hamburg

Tel: +49-40-37 48 86-0

Fax: +49-40-37 48 86-43 od. -44

Email: info@cwbrons.de

Web address: www.cwbrons.de

EMERGENCY MOBILE 24 HOURS SERVICE: +49-172 9114994

After office hours: Mr. Claas-Henning Brons

Tel: +49-4183-975872 Mobile: 171 213 1135) Fax 04183-975873

Mr. Jan-Wessel Brons Tel: +49-4183-7778690 Mobil: 160 944 20292 Mr. Matthias Bimschas Tel: +49-40-36090163 Mr. Gunnar Neubauer Tel.: +49-40-41184502

Bremen

Rembertistrasse 76 28195 Bremen

Tel.: +49-421 320875 Fax: +49-421 324558 Email: bremen@cwbrons.de

EMERGENCY MOBILE 24 HOURS SERVICE: +49-172 4304119

After office hours:

Mr. Walter Kühn Tel.: +49-4297-940
Mr. Jens Diepenbroek Tel.: +49-421-376647

Mr. Timo Wispeler Tel.: 0171-4821063

Cuxhaven

Gorch-Fock-Strasse 11 27472 Cuxhaven

Tel.: +49-4721-714071 Fax: +49-4721-714071

Email: cuxhaven@cwbrons.de

After office hours: Mr. Uwe Tüchsen

Tel.: +49-4721-391056

GHANA

Tema SHERINGHAM P&I SERVICES, 80, Bengali, Community 11. Tema, Ghana Postal address - RELUGAS P.M.B. Community 1, Tema Tel.: 00233 22 308730 Secretary, 00233 22 308722 Office

Fax: 00233 22 308712 MD's office

Out of hours

Mobile: 00233 244 367 399 - B. J. Hankey

Email: Relugas@4u.com.gh

HONG KONG

Inchcape Shipping Services (HK) Ltd.

Units 1802-1805 18th Floor, No 3 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong

Kong

Telephone: (852) 2746 7322 Telefax: (852) 2741 4422

Email: k.c.cheung@iss-shipping.com

Website: www.iss-shipping.com

A.O.H: K. C. Cheung Mobile (852) 9306 2301,

Sunny Chan (852) 2884 1109, Mobile (852) 9192 6227

INDIA

MUMBAI

P & I Services Pvt Ltd

(CIN:U63090MH1981PTC024997)
B - 302, Pramukh Plaza, Cardinal Gracias Road,

Chakala, Andheri (East) - Mumbai - 400 099

Office - Tel - 91 22 6761 8955

Mobile Tel - 9920969790 - Fax No - 91 22 6761 8999

suresh@piserve.in

New Delhi

INTERPORT MARINE PVT. LTD..

New Delhi - Head Office.

1/29 C, Basement, Shanti Niketan, Rao Tula Ram Marg, New

Delhi - 110 021

CENTRALIZED ALL-INDIA CONTACTS:

Phone Nos.: 0091-11-2411 2129 / 2411 2731

Fax No.: 0091-11-2411 2578

Mobile Nos.: 0091-98100 28542/99208 77176 - CAPT. S. P.

ANAND.

: 0091-98107 78417 / 92124 24219 - DEV KANT SHARMA.

E-mails: interportms@vsnl.net/ / interportms@gmail.com

INDONESIA

Jakarta

PT. POLYNESIA BHAKTI

Jl. Menteng Atas Selatan II No.3 Jakarta 12960 INDONESIA

Tel: +6221 83790454/ 83709741

Fax: +6221 83780116 Email: polyba@rad.net.id

After Office Hours:

Slamet Gijarto: +6221 8298409/ Mob.: +62818112350 Soedarjanto: +6221 8203339/ Mob.: +62811873261

Jakarta

SPICA SERVICES (INDONESIA)

Wisma Budi, 7nd Floor, Room 705, Jl. H.R. Rasuna Said Kav C-6, Jakarta 12940 Indonesia

Phone: (62) 21-5213 330 Fax: (62) 21-5213 325

E-mail: indonesia@spicaina.co.id / ma@spicaina.co.id

After Office Hours Contact:

Capt. Mohammed Bin Abdullah/ (62) 21 8151877844/

ma@spicaina.co.id

Josephine Retno Padmaningrum/ (62) 816-983 527/ irp@spicaina.co.id

Frans Werner Limahelu/ (62) 812-929 6363/ fwl@spicaina.co.id Irene Endah Titisari/ (62) 815-626 6948/ iet@spicaina.co.id Mohd Andi Trevino/ (62) 815-7422 7711/ mat@spicaina.co.id

IRAN

Calm Sea Culture Marine Services (C.S.C)

Mr. Farhang Ghasemi Tel: +98 21 2241 1970 Fax: +98 21 2241 1965 Mobile: +98 912 1142066

E-mail: farhang.ghasemi@calmseaculture.com

IRAQ

Nouri Alwan Marine Surveyors and Consultancy

Basra - Iraq

Capt. Alaa Mansoor

Nouri Alwan Marine Surveyors and consultancy Basrah-Iraq Al

MAQIL- Opposite of Basrah train station - Villa no. 63.

Mobile 24 hours: 00964 7718438410

Email: <u>info@alwanmarine.com</u>
Web: <u>www.alwanMarine.com</u>

Mutual Marine Services Al Mushtarakah LTD. Iraq Office +968781 332 9879 nouri.alwan@Mushtaraka-Iraq.com www.mushtaraka-Iraq.com

Basrah

Sadiq Jaafar & Associates.

Al Mansour, amirat St Dist. 601, Rd. 12, Bldg. 57 P.O.B Al

Yarmouk. 15032

Office Tel: 00964 1 5421829, 00964 1 5424876

Fax: 00964 1 5413101 Res. Tel: 00964 1 5421863,

Mobile: 00964 1 5414353, 00964 1 5416950.

Email: sadiq_ishe1937@yahoo.co.uk

kms_1944@yahoo.com

Mobile: Sadig Jaafar / 00964 7903195278 / 00962 796655175

Balsam AlJashamy / 00964 7807426639

Basrah

Captain Adnan Ateya
Tel.: 00964 40614932
Mobile: 00964 7801126300

ITALY

Genoa

Studio Legale Mordiglia

Postal Address: P.O. Box 1190 16121 Genoa Italy

Street Address: Via XX Settembre, 14/17 16121 Genoa Italy

Office Telephone(s): +39 010 586841

Office Telefax(s): +39 010 532729 / 562998 Office E-mail address(es): mail@mordiglia.it

Website: www.mordiglia.it

After Hours Contacts

Name: Giorgio Cosulich/ Mobile: +39 348 3130259

E-mail: giorgio.cosulich@mordiglia.it

JAPAN

Okayama

IBEX Marine Co., Ltd. 460-2 Nishizaka, Kurashiki City, Okayama Pref. 710-0004 Japan

Tel: +81 86-463-5111 Fax: +81 86-462-6263 <u>ibx@ibexmarine.jp</u>

Tokyo

Takeo Kubota, Partner Braun Moriya Kubota & Fukuda Law Office Room 502, Tokyo Sakudada Bldg 1 - 3, Nishi-Shinbashi 1-chome Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan 105-0003

Office Tel: (03) 3504 - 0251 Home Tel: (03) 3410 - 6618 bmhk@mui.biglobe.ne.jp

Kobe

MARINE CONSULTANTS & SURVEYORS CO., LTD.

14-8 Takenodai 5-Cyome, Nishi-ku Kobe, Japan

Tel: +81 78-992-2751 Fax: +81 78-992-2753 Mobile: +81 90-3720-1884

E-mail: ibayashi@mvc.biglobe.ne.jp

KAZAKHSTAN

Almaty

(Including Caspian sea ports: Atyrau and Aqtau)

CIS PANDI SERVICES Mr. Ismail Seidakbarov Mobile: 77017640515

Timiryazev Street 42, Offices 1, Block No. 15/1 Almaty,

050057Kazakhstan Tel: +72722744025 Fax: +72722695438

E-mail: almaty@cispandi.com

After Office Hours: Mr. Ismail Seidakbarov Mobile: +77017640515

KENYA

MOMBASA

PROTECTING & INDEMNITY KENYA LTD Suite 15, Third Floor, Jubilee Insurance Bld, Moi Avenue, P.O. Box 99342, MOMBASA Tel: +254 41 222494 / 313897

Fax: +254 41 220511

CONTACT: M. M. ITTISO A/H +254 41 492372

Mobile: +254 733 803226

E-Mail: pandi@africaonline.co.ke

Website: <u>www.pandi.co.za</u>

KOREA, DPR

Pyongyang

Claims & Correspondents Department of DPR Korea (C&CD)

Contacts: Mr. Hong Myong Ryong (Managing Director)

Mr. Ro Song Mo (Deputy Managing Director),

Mr. Kim Song Chol (Manager), Miss Kim Myong Ju (Manager)

Tel: 850-2-18222 Ext. 8024

E-mail: kp.corresp@silibank.com

Address: Haebangsan-Dong, Central District, Pyongyang, DPR

Korea

KOREA, SOUTH

Seoul

Asia-Iran International Trade and Marine Law Institution 15th New Global Bldg. 433, Seolleung-ro, Gangnam-gu, Seoul, Korea

Tel: +82-2-569-5333 Fax: +82-2-569-9554 H.P: +82-10-4225-6162 Email: fkaraji@gmail.com

Seoul

Hyopsung Shipping Corp.
9th Floor, Backnam Bldg./188-3, 1-Ka, Eulchi-Ro, Chung-Ku,Seoul, 100-191, Korea

Telephone No.: +82 (0)2 752-2963~4 Fax No.: +82 (0)2 771 – 7150 E-Mail: seoulhs@hyopsung.co.kr

A.O. H Name: Mr. K. H. Kim +82 (0)10 3895 1229 Mr. K. B. Song +82 (0)11 9786 6248

Busan

7th Floor, Yuchang Bldg.25-2, 4-Ka, Chungang - Dong, Chung-Ku, Busan, 600-719, Korea

Telephone No.: +82 (0)51 463 – 6551~5 Fax No.: +82 (0)51 462 – 3492 E-Mail: mailhead@hyopsung.co.kr

A.O. H Name: Mr. K. W. Ha +82 (0)10 2699 2491 Mr. S. K. Han +82 (0)10 9610 6848

Inchon: A-802, Jungsuk Bldg. 7-241, 3-Ka, Shinheung-Dong,

Chung-Ku, Inchon, 400-712, Korea Telephone No.: +82 (0)32 882-9010 Fax No.: +82 (0)32 887 - 8806 E-Mail: inchonhs@hyopsung.co.kr

A.O. H Name: Mr. M. J. Nam +82 (0)11 720 5114 Mr. J. D. Shim +82 (0)11 755 7947

KUWAIT

ICS - INTERNATIONAL CARGO SURVEYORS - Dabbous Street,

Al Ajeel Centre Fahaheel, Kuwait

Mr. Bassem Kasim

Mobile number: 0096523925688

Emergency Mobile Numbers 24 hours: 0097150 2713542

0097150 3696008

E-mail: kuwait.ops@icsurvey.com, info@alwanmarine.com

Mr. Thomas Thomas, Group Business Manager – (P&I Services)

Tel: +965 2245 8893 Ext. 347

Mobile: +965 9964 3460

E-mail: thomas.thomas@absckwt.com.kw

LEBANON

Beirut

Elias Marine Consultants Ltd. Associated Office Overseas Shipping - Lebanon Charles Helou Avenue, Sehnaoui Building, 4th Floor, P.O. Box 175-300, Beirut, Lebanon

Contact Person: Mr. Tony Elias

Telephone: +961 1 563 890
Facsimile: +961 1 563 891
Emergency Line 24/7: +357 25 800 999
E-mail telias@terra.net.lb

AOH

Mr. Tony Elias

Mobile Telephone(s): +961 3 313 135

E-mail: <u>telias@terra.net.lb</u>

Mr Elie Medlej

Mobile Tel(s): +357 99 670 227 / +961 3 941 633

Residence: +357 25 755 270 / e.medlej@eliasmarine.com

MALAYSIA

Altitude (M) Sendirian Berhad

No. 52 B Jalan Batu Unjur 1, Taman Bayu Perdana, 41200 Klang

Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Tel: +603 3324 1413 Fax: +603 3324 1812

E-mail: thiyagarajahs@altitude.my

altitude.my@gmail.com admin@altitude.my

Web: <u>www.altitude.my</u>

Kuala Lumpur

SPICA SERVICES (M) SDN BHD M-03 & M-04 Mezzanine Floor Wisma LYL, Jalan 51A/223 46100 Petaling Jaya Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

Phone: (60) 03-7947 7440 Fax: (60) 03-7947 7441

E-mail: kl claims@spica.com.my

After Office Hours Contact Mohmad Bin Abdullah/ (60) 019-260 1058 mohmad@spica.com.my

Khairizam Bin Abdul Hamid/ (60) 012-332 7842 khairizam@spica.com.my Razif Md. Radzi (60) 012-332 7054

Email: razif@spica.com.my

Sumitra Woodhull (60) 012-332 7593

Email: sumitra@spica.com.my

Penang

SPICA SERVICES (M) SDN BHD 19th Floor, Suite B, Menara BHL Bank No.51 Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah 10050 Penang Malaysia

Phone: (60) 04-227 8375 / 226 4688 Fax: (60) 04-227 6080 / 227 6770

Telex: BENPEN MA43014 Cable: BENSHIP PENANG

E-mail: pen.spica@benline.com.my

After Office Hours Contact:

Sukhbir Singh / (60) 04-828 3689 Residence/ (60) 019-422 2330

Mobile

Pasir Gudang

SPICA SERVICES (M) SDN BHD Unit 18-05, Menara Landmark 12, Jalan Ngee Heng 8000 Johor Bahru, Johor Malaysia

Phone: (60) 07-226 1467 Fax: (60) 07-226 5599

E-mail: psg.spica@benline.com.my
E-mail: psg.operations@benline.com.my

After Office Hours Contact:
Michael Cheah / (60) 012-780 7128
Thomas Yan / (65) 6746 3945 Residence/ (65) 9737 4580 Mobile
Dughall Aitken / (65) 6344 4066 Residence/ (65) 9625 8986 Mobile

MALTA

Valletta

H. VASSALLO LTD.

53 Old Theatre Street Valletta VLT 1427 MALTA

Office Tel: (+356) 2122 5548 / (+356) 2123 0562

Fax: (+356) 2122 3582

mail@hvassallo.com

Name Charlie Bugeia

Mobile: (+356) 7922 5548 Home: (+356) 2144 3020

E-mail: charlie.bugeja@hvassallo.com

Name Joe Buhagiar

Mobile: (+356) 9944 2703/Home

Tel: (+356) 2157 6774

E-mail: joe.buhagiar@hvassallo.com

Name John Bugeja /Mobile: (+356) 7904 7880 Home Tel: (+356) 2144 3020

E-mail: john.bugeja@hvassallo.com

MOROCCO

Casablanca

McLEAN Maritime Maroc

Boulevard Zerktouni, 7, rue Sebta Résidence Rami Bureau Nº 8, 2 ème étage Casablanca - MOROCCO

Tel: +212 (5)22 20 93 18 Fax: +212 (5)22 26 57 31

dbelkadi@mcleans.fr / pgaro@mcleans.fr

TANGIERS

McLEAN Maritime Maroc33, Boulevard Youssef Ibn Tachfine 90000 TANGER

Tel: +212 (5)22 20 93 18 / +212 (5)39 94 94 52 88

Fax: +212 (5)22 26 57 31 Mobile: +212 (6)61 98 54 29

dbelkadi@mcleans.fr / pgaro@mcleans.fr

MOZAMBIQUE

Beira

Casa Infanta Da Sagres, Largo Do Buzi 1/6 P.O. Box 44 BEIRA, MOZAMBIQUE

Tel: +258 23 323143
Fax: +258 23 322916
E-Mail: marine@teledata.mz
Website: www.pandi.co.za

CONTACT A/H - H NKOMO +258 82 501 7350 or to P&I ASSOCIATES DURBAN +27 83 250 3398 MAPUTO Praco dos Trabalhadores 51, P.O. Box 292, MAPUTO, MOZAMBIQUE

Tel: +258 21 326021 Fax: +258 21 356526

E-Mail: pidurban@pandi.co.za

Website: www.pandi.co.za

CONTACT H. MADEIRA MOBILE +258 82 304 3280 AOH P&I ASSOCIATES DURBAN +27 83 250 3398

MYANMAR

Yanogon

Hull and P&I contact Ms. Tin Ohnmar Tun Room - 305, Building (A) Tetkatho Yeikmon Housing, No.25 (D), New University Auenue Road

Bahan Township, Yangon, Myanmar

Postal address: 53/55 Mahabandoola Garden Street P.O. Box 109,

Yangon, The Union of Myanmar

Phone: +95 1 723043 / 557990 / 559467 / 559894

Fax: +95 1 557990 / 248108 / 372174 E-mail: tin o tun@seasiren.com.mm

law_chambers@seasiren.com.mm

AOH

Tin Ohnmar Tun/ +95 1 723043 / 557990 / +95 9 512 1 024 (mobile)/ +95 1 248108 / 557990 (Fax) tin_o_tun@seasiren.com.mm / law_chambers@seasiren.com.mm

Htay Aung/ +95 1 541 584 / +95 1 9 540 4573 (mobile) h_aung@aquamarine.com.mm Melvin Myint Thane / +95 1 661 786 / +95 9 502 0307 (mobile) wshisho@myanmar.com.mm

Mya Mu/ +95 9 802 1083 (mobile) umyamu@gmail.com

OMAN

Badar Shipping Agencies LLC, Badar Commercial Complex, 7th Floor, Wadi Al Kabir, Muscat - Sultanate of Oman.

Mr. Abdul Rahim Kasim Tel: 00968 24877701 Mobile: 00968 99315149

Emergency Mobile Numbers 24 hours: 0097150 2713542

0097150 3696008

E-mail: rahim@badar-shipping.com, info@alwanmarine.com

PAKISTAN

Karachi

Henderson International Pakistan (Pvt.) Ltd. B/28, Block 10-A, Gulshan-e-Igbal, Karachi - Pakistan.

Tel: 9221 34989066

Fax: 9221 34974105 / 24Hrs.: 9221 34974105

Mobile: 92300 8238148

E-mail: pak.capt.alam@hendersonpak.org

admin@hendersonpak.org

Web: www.hendersonpak.org

Karachi

Indemnis Marine (Pvt) Ltd.

24/1, 9th Street, Off Khayaban-e-Shamsheer, Phase V, Defence Housing Authority, Karachi-75500, Pakistan.

Tel: +92 21 35341042 / 35347256 / 38240122 / 35341826

Fax: +92 21 35341041

E-mail: indemnis@cyber.net.pk, indemnis@gmail.com

AOH:

Capt. S. Hashim Mujtaba: +92 21 35841726, +92 300 8225446

Rear Admiral (Retd): +92 21 35856354 S. Abid Muitaba: +92 300 2238188

M. Abdul Wadood: +92 21 34974403, +92 300 8235734

PANAMA

C. Fernie & Co. S.A.

1110 Columbus Avenue Cristobal, Republic of Panama

Postal Address: P.O. Box 0301-03506 Colon, Republic of Panama

Tel: 433 8500 After hours duty contact: 6614 0554 Fax: 433 8528

Email: ferniepi@cfernie.com

PARAGUAY

CHADWICK WEIR NAVEGACION

Address: Benjamin Constant 593, 10 D, Asunción, Paraguay

Telefax: (595-21) 497 933

Email: <u>amancio.bogado@smi.com.py</u>

PHILIPPINES

Makati City

DEL ROSARIO PANDIPHIL, INC

Office Address

15th Floor, Pacific Star Building

Makati Avenue corner Sen. Gil Puyat Ave.1200 Makati City,

Philippines

Tel: +63 2 810 1791

Fax: +63 2 817 1740/63 2 810 3632

24/7 Mobile: +63 917 830 8384

Postal Address

PO Box 2106, Makati Central Post Office, Makati City, Philippines

Emails: mail@delrosariolaw.com

mail@delrosario-pandiphil.com

After Hours

Arturo T. Del Rosario Jr.

Home: +63 2 772 2195 Mobile: +63 920 947 1901

Email: arturo.delrosario@delrosariolaw.com

Ruben T. Del Rosario

Home: +63 2 842 0865 Fax: +63 2 850 8677 Mobile: +63 920 947 1892

Email: ruben.delrosario@delrosariolaw.com

CEBU BRANCH OFFICE

Office Address

DEL ROSARIO PANDIPHIL, INC.

45, 4th Street corner Lapulapu Avenue San Antonio Village Apas,

Cebu City, Philippines

Telephone: +63 32 234 1690 Fax: +63 32 234 1698 24/7 Mobile: +63 917 830 8384

Email: mail@delrosario-pandiphil.com

After Hours: Ma. Gina B. Guinto/+63 917 831 8384

DelRosario-Pandiphil website:

http://www.delrosario-pandiphil.com

Email: <u>mail@delrosario-pandiphil.com</u>

Joseph Rebano: joseph.rebano@delrosariolaw.com

www.delrosariolaw.com

Manila

SPICA SERVICES PHILIPPINES INC Ground Floor, Room 151, Velco Center Corner 13th & Chicago Streets Port Area, Manila Philippines

Phone: (63) 2-527 7589 / Fax: (63) 2-527 5939

E-mail: operation@benline.com.ph

After Office Hours Contact:

Ricardo Jamandre (63) 2-714 4755 Residence (63) 918-903 4202 Mobile

Thomas Yan (65) 6746 3945 Residence (65) 9737 4580 Mobile

Dughall Aitken (65) 6344 4066 Residence (65) 9625 8986 Mobile

QATAR

Doha

Milaha Integrated Maritime & Logistics WLL

P.O. Box 153 Doha, State of Qatar Tel: +974 44949810

Fax: +974 44949810

Name: Arthur B. Bargo Mobile: +974 55867119

E-mail: ABargo@milaha.com

RUSSIA

Company name: Oy Lars Krogius Ab

St. Petersburg

Tel: +7 812 324 8713 Fax: +7 812 324 8743 petersburg@krogius.com

Moscow Tel: +7 495 739 8674 Fax: +7 495 739 8675

moscow@krogius.com

Moscow

CIS PANDI SERVICES
Capt. Alexander Baskakov
59, Leningradskoe shosse, office 402, 125195 Moscow.Russia

Tel: + 495 221 80 46 Fax: + 495 221 80 46

E-mail: moscow@cispandi.com

After Office Hours:

Capt. Alexander Baskakov / Mobile: +7 916 99718 74

Tel: +7 49 557411 25 St. PETERSBURG

(Including Lomonosov, Kronshtadt Ust-Luga, Vyborg, Vysotsk,

Primorsk, Cherepovets, Arkhangelsk) MURMANSK Including Kandalaksha

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Mr. Andrey Ivanov

5 Mezhevoy channel, "Baltic Marine Centre", Office 313St.

Petersburg, 198035 Russia

Tel/Fax: +78123357942

E-mail: st.petersburg@cispandi.com

After Office Hours: Mr. Andrey Ivanov Mobile: +79111610816

NOVOROSSIYSK

(Including ports: Taganrog, Sochi, Eisk, Rostov-on Don, Azov,

Temrjuk, Port Kavkaz, Tuapse, Astrakhan)

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Mr. Oleg Shashkin

95 Fabrichnaya Str., Novorossiysk, 353923 Russia

Tel: +78617611286 Fax: +78617711534 E-mail: novo@cispandi.com

After Office Hours:

Mr. Oleg Shashkin/Ms. Irina Ketova

Tel: +78617649526 Mobile: +79887627563 Mobile: +79284150157

SAUDI ARABIA

Dammam

MUTUAL MARINE SERVICES AL MUSHTARAKA LTD claims.dammam@mushtaraka.com

Tel: (3)8268326, (3)8282039, (3)8271579, (3)8282049, (3)8267201

Fax: (3)8275342

Mr. Nizamuddin Ahmed

Bokhari Commercial Centre Al-Tobiashi, PO Box 8972, Dammam

31492 / Saudi Arabia

SENEGAL

Dakar

Site du Port de Dakar BUDD Senegal BP 23048 4 Rue Mage X Parchappe, 3rd Floor Dakar

Tel: 221 33 821 37 22 Fax: 221 33 821 39 11

Email: budd.senegal@budd-pni.com

Lawyer - Manager | Ms Elisabeth Ndiaye Office Mobile: 221 77 637 41 95

Office Email: elisabeth.ndiaye@budd-pni.com

A.O.H Tel: 221 33 821 20 44

Assistant / Claim handler | Mr Samba Cor Fall

Office Mobile: 221 77 636 55 58

Office Email: samba.fall@budd-pni.com

A.O.H Tel: 221 33 868 51 27

SINGAPORE

Morris Marine Services Pte Ltd

Nortas P&I Marine Services Pte Ltd 20 Harbour Drive #07-01A PSA Vista Singapore 117612

Captain Bruce Morris

Tel: (65) 6775 2256 (24 hrs)

Tel: (65) 6775 0985 Fax: (65) 6775 9135

email: morrismarine@nortas.com.sg
website: www.morrismarineservices.com

SOUTH AFRICA

Durban

P&I ASSOCIATES (PTY) LTD. - DURBAN

1st Floor, 1 Kingsmead Boulevard Kingsmead Office Park Durban

4001

Postal address: P.O. Box 3814, DURBAN, 4000 South Africa

Tel: +27 31 368 5050

Fax: +27 31 332 4455 or +27 31 368 3561

E-Mail: pidurban@pandi.co.za

Website: www.pandi.co.za

Mobile: +27 83 250 3398 (24 Hrs)

ALAN REID Manage Director +27 31 466 2139 / +27 83 250 3392

MICHAEL HEADS Legal & Claims +27 31 207 2394

+27 83 453 4899

RONALD EVANS Stowaways +27 83 441 5685 DAVID MACDONALD Stowaways/crew +27 31 466 4192

+27 83 253 0170

JASON HOSSACK Surveys +27 83 303 1549 BYRON ELKINGTON Surveys +27 83 703 8113

CAPE TOWN

P&I Associates (Pty) Ltd.

12th Floor, Main Tower, Standard Bank Centre, Cape Town, P.O.

Box 1270, CAPE TOWN, 8000

Tel: +27 21 425 4924 / FAX: +27 21 421 1423

Mobile: +27 83 255 6994
E-Mail: pict@ct.pandi.co.za
Website: www.pandi.co.za

GARTH HANSEN Manager / surveyor +27 83 255 6994

SRI LANKA

Colombo

Ceyline Shipping Ltd Capt. Nalin Peris Managing Director

Phone Office: +94 11 4511052 up to 60

Mobile: +94 777344660 E-mail: nalin@ceyline.lk

port_agency@ceyline.lk

Capt. Kapila Perera / DGM

Phone Office: +94 11 4511072 / Mobile: +94777530061

E-mail: kapila@cevline.lk

Mr. Rizwan /Deputy Operations Manager Phone Office: +94 11 4511052 up to 60

Mobile: +94 7777766769
E-mail: <u>rizwan@ceyline.lk</u>

SPAIN

Bilbao

AGENCIA MARITIMA ARTIACH ZUAZAGA, S.L.

E-mail: amazsa@amazsa.com

P Campo Volantin, 24 Pral. 48007 BILBAO

Phone: (+34) 944236661 Fax: (+34) 944237973

Santander

AGENCIA MARITIMA ARTIAICH ZUAZAGA, S.L. Poligono Puerta de Santander 39011 SANTANDER

Person incharge: Mr. Fernando Sainz

Mobile: 629530281

SYRIA

Lattakia

Lawyer Raja & Omar haroun Baghdad St. Raja haroun Building-No.108 P.O.Box 150 Lattakia-Syria

Tel: +963-41-360060, 360061, 360062

Fax: +963-41-360064, 360065

Contact Person: Omar Haroun AOH: +963-41-360068

Mobile: +963-944-238090 / +963-944-238090

roharoun@scs-net.org roharoun@net.sy www.harounlaw.com

TAIWAN

CHINA MARINE SURVEYORS, TAIPEI

Address: 8th Fl., No. 36-10, Fu Xing S. Rd., Sec. 1, Taipei, 104,

Taiwan, R.O.C.

Tel: +886-2-2721-6205 Fax: +886-2-2721-7795

PIC: Ms. Annie Chen

E-mail: cmstpe@ms9.hinet.net

annie.chen@surveycms.com.tw ring.wang@surveycms.com.tw phu.huang@surveycms.com.tw

PRIMIER CONSULTANT CORP.

PIC: Mr. Henry Chou

Tel: +886-2-2741-968 Fax: +886-2-2740-1098

 $\pmb{\text{E-mail:}} \quad \underline{\pmb{\text{Premier.tpe@gmail.com}}}$

hengwei@ms19.hinet.net

THAILAND

Bangkok

SPICA SERVICES (THAILAND) LTD.

15th Floor, Sethiwan Tower, 139 Pan Road, Silom, Bangrak, Bangkok 10500

Phone: (66) 2-266 6049 Fax: (66) 2-266 6048 Telex: 21817 SPICA TH

E-mail: claims@spica-thailand.com

Capt.saroch@spica-thailand.com

After Office Hours Contact:

Capt. Saroch Sansook (66) 2-932 0155 Residence

(66) 81-611 6449 Mobile

Tipakorn Songboonkeaw (66) 2-542 4558 Residence

(66) 81-822 5187 Mobile

Capt. Chaiyan Thanapansakul (66) 3-429 1105 Residence

(66) 81-823 6712 Mobile

Group 3A Trading Co., LTD.

137/6 Moo 3 - Tambon Takhien Tia – PO Box 106 - Banglamung Chonburi 20150

PIC: Mr. Philippe Pruvot

Phone: (66) 3367 3807 / (44) 20 3239 1276

Fax: (66) 3303 6701

Mobile(24/7): (66) 8 1949 5571 / (66) 8 2546 0770

E-mail: <u>general@group3a.com</u>
Website: <u>www.group3a.com</u>

TUNISIA

Tunis

Dhaya Sami Chairman

Tunisian International P&I Correspondent (TIPIC)

Tel: +216 71 950 641/741/721

Fax: +216 71 950 650 Web: <u>www.tipic.com.tn</u>

TURKEY

ISTANBUL

Metropole Maritime & Trading Ltd. Co. Kosuyolu Mah. Ali Nazima Sok. No:49 34718 Kadikoy - Istanbul / TURKEY

Tel: +90 216 325 07 65

Fax: +90 216 327 16 23 / 428 04 34

Mobile: +90 532 235 17 47

Email: f.uzun@metropole.com.tr

metropole@metropole.com.tr o.uzun@metropole.com.tr

Web: www.metropole.com.tr

United Arab Emirate

DUBAI

Nouri Alwan Marine Surveyors and Consultancy -Sharjah Office – UAE

Capt. Nouri Alwan

Nouri Alwan Marine Surveyors and consultancy Al Qulayaa Area,

Sharjah, Corniche Road, opposite Raddison Blu Hotel,

Mobile 24 hours: 0097150 2713542

0097150 3696008

Email: info@alwanmarine.com

DUBAI

Navtech International

Marine Consultants & Surveyors

Office No: 104, Shk. Mohd. Bin Rashid Al Maktoum Blgd.,

Al Mamzar, Dubai, UAE,

P.O.Box:88503 Dubai, U.A.E

Tel: +971 4 2963283
Fax: +971 4 2963284
E-mail: navtech.uae@eim.ae
Web: www.navtechgroup.com

DUBAI

HENDERSON INTERNATIONAL GROUP

PIC: Mr. W.A. Henderson / Ms. Bharati Bhagnari

P.O.Box: 24992, Al Jadaf, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Tel: +971 4 3241828 Fax: +971 4 3243112 Dir: +9714 3243929 Mobile: +971 50 5584495

Email: offices@hendersongroup.org

bharati@hendersongroup.org

URL: www.hendersongroup.org

DUBAI

Constellation Marine Services LLc

Dubai [Reg. No.: 1008889] Captain Zarir I. (Partner)

MBA, DipMarSur, MICS, MNI, FIIMS

Address: Office 806, The Citadel, Business Bay, Dubai.

Tel: +971 4 4232884, +971 4 4518060

Mobile: +971 50 1889614 Fax: +971 4232894

After office Hrs H.P. +971 50 8979103

Res Tel: +971 4 2885712 Fax: +971 4 2340584

Email: const.dubai@constellationms.com

Fujairah [Reg. No.: - 10181472]

Captain S. Sundar, Branch Manager

(Master Mariner)

Mr. Jacob Jackson

(Asst. Branch Manager, Fujairah)

Address: #103, AL MAHA Tower, P.O. Box – 7401, Fujairah.

Tel: +971 (0) 92236344 Fax: +971 (0) 92236343 A.O.H.: +971 (0) 56 1421168 A.O.H.: +971 (0) 50 1527939

Email: const.fujairah@constellationms.com

Abu Dhabi [Reg. No. :- CN-1252344] Captain Sudheer Chitla, (Branch Manager) Address: Khalifa bldg, #4 mazanine floor, Opp. Capital Aldar Hotel, al Mina road, P.O. Box – 27818, Abu Dhabi, UAE

Tel: +971 2 6713320 Mobile: +971 50 9026130 Fax: +971 2 6713325

Email: const.abudhabi@constellationms.com

Mutual Marine Services Al Mushtarakah LTD.

P.O.BOX 69465, Sharjah, UAE Tel: +971 (06) 5659684 Fax: +971 (06) 5659685 Mobile: +971 50 271 3542

UKRAINE

M & C Surveys Ltd. 11, Gavannaya str., ap. 14 Odessa, Ukraine, 65026 Alexey Kurdyukov Mobile: +38 095 288 6248
Tel/Fax: +38 048 726 65 53
Tel: +38 048 728 96 63
E-mail: mandc@tm.odessa.ua
Skype: alexey.kurdyukov

IZMAIL(Including Ports of Reny & Ust-Dunaysk)

CIS PANDI SERVICES Mr. Gennadiy Markov Regional Office (Odessa)

Tel: +380482376915 / +3807165756

Fax: +380482348328

E-mail: odessa@cispandi.com

After Office Hours:

Mr. Gennadiy Markov (Odessa) Mobile: +380503166536

KIEV

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Mr. Alexander Zakharov

21, Yakuba Kolasa Street, Suite 354, Kiev, 03148 Ukraine

Tel: +380503301984 / +380442959257

Fax: +380444031340

E-mail: kyiv@eurogal-surveys.com

After Office Hours:

Mr. Gennadiy Markov (Odessa) Mobile: +380503166536

MARIUPOL (Including Berdyansk)

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Capt. Sergey Khadzhiyskiy

1 Chernomorskaya Str., Apt.21 87517 Mariupol, Ukraine

Tel/Fax: +380 629 413364

E-mail: mariupol@cispandi.com

After Office Hours:

Capt. Sergey Khadzhiyskiy Mobile: +380503286453

Mr. Gennadiy Markov Mobile: +380503166536

ODESSA (Including Ports: Illychevsk, Yuzhny, Nikolayev, Kherson,

Kertch, Feodosia, Sevastopol)

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Adv. Pavel Svertilov

76, Bazarnaya Str., Suite 7, Odessa, 65011 Ukraine

Tel: +380482376915 / +380487165756

Fax: +380482348328

E-mail: odessa@cispandi.com

After Office Hours:

Adv. Pavel Svertilov/ Mobile: +38067484 6884 Mr. Gennadiy Markov/ Mobile: +380503166536

ODESSA

Ostra Pandi Services Co. Ltd

13, Pushkinskaya Str., 65026 Odessa, Ukraine

Tel: +38 (048) 729 44 51 (Mr. Cyril Good)

+38 (050) 336 50 61 (Mr. Cyril Good) +38 (050) 316 27 88 (Mr. Khirav Magdiev)

E-mail: survey@ostra-pandi.com
Web: www.ostra-pandi.com

IZMAIL(Including Ports of Reni & Ust-Dunaysk)

51, Perekopskoy Diviziyi Str., app. 1, 68600, Izmail,

Ukraine

Mobile: +38 (093) 302 94 16 (Mrs. Svetlana Alemayeva)

E-mail: <u>izmail@ostra-pandi.com</u>

NIKOLAYEV (including Sea Port, River Port, Specialised Port

Oktyabrsk)

81K, 6 Slobodskaya Str., off. 2, 54055, Nikolayev, Ukraine

Mobile: +38 (050) 337 21 28 (Mr. Sergey Seryogin)

E-mail: nikolaev@ostra-pandi.com

UNITED KINGDOM

London

London Law Firm Correspondent Swinnerton Moore LLP(No OC330607) Cannongate House 64 Cannon Street London EC4N 6AE

Tel: 44 207 236 7111 Fax: 44 207 236 1222

Solicitor | Mr. Tony Swinnerton
Office Tel: 44 207 651 0860
Office Email: tony@swinmoore.com

URUGUAY

Montevideo

CHADWICK WEIR NAVEGACION S.A.

Address: Colón 1498, 11000 Montevideo, Uruguay

P.O. Box: 451, 11000 Montevideo, Uruguay

Tel.: (598-2) 916 11 68
Fax: (598-2) 916 22 65
Email: <u>mutual@chw.com.uy</u>

chadweir@chw.com.uy

Web-stie: www.chw.com.uy

A.O.H.: Capt. Alejandro Laborde: Home (598-2) 711 52 19

Mobile: (598-95) 60 96 51

Email: <u>mutual@chw.com.uy</u>

Bettina Polo: Home: (598-2) 929 14 75

Mobile (598-95) 65 91 15

Email: chadweir@chw.com.uy

UZBEKISTAN

TASHKENT

CIS PANDI SERVICES

Dr. Ilya Skvortzov

3 Askiya Str., Apt. 12, Tashkent, 700064 Uzbekistan

Tel / Fax: +998711152439 Mobile: +998901856864

E-mail: tashkent@eurogal-surveys.com

VENEZUELA

Caracas

BUDD c/o Caribbean Marine Surveyors and Consulting, C.A. Av. Principal de Bello Monte, Torre Financiera Piso 15 Officina Caracas

Tel: 58 212 753 81 22 / 339 26 80

Fax: 58 212 753 36 84

Email: budd.venezuela@budd-pni.com

Web site: www.budd-pni.com

Manager | Captain Lenin Garcia
Office Mobile: 58 414 696 7004

Office Email: caplenin@budd-pni.com

Contact | Engr. David Campis

Office Mobile: 58 414 231 9868

Contact | Captain Ernesto Carles Rodriguez

Office Mobile: 58 414 336 1797

VIETNAM

Hochiminh City

Budd Marseille

Tel: 33 491 33 58 33 Fax: 33 491 33 13 31

Please copy all e-mails to general.marseille@budd-pni.com

BUDD c/o Viet Minh Marine Services Ltd

59/11 Pham Viet Chanh St, dist 1

Hochiminh City

Tel: 84 8 3833 16 48 Fax: 84 8 3833 45 03

Email: vmmarine@hcm.vnn.vn;

budd.vietnam@budd-pni.com

General Manager | Mrs Thu

Office Mobile: +84 90390 8049

Office Email: budd.vietnam@budd-pni.com

YEMEN

Nouri Alwan Marine Surveyors & Consultancy

Capt. Saad M. Khadim

Yemen - Aden, Malla - Ring Road

Tel / Fax:+967 2243 154 Mobile: +967 7379 35000

+967 7340 49090

Email: saad@alwanmarine.com

